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Such is the profound impact that COVID-19 continues to have on many aspects of life since its emergence in early 2020, it 
would be impossible to summarise the events of the past year without reference to the pandemic appearing throughout the 
many strands of activity within this report.

For children with life-shortening conditions and their families it has been a year of intense worry; additional worry at a time 
when they are already going through the terrifying heartbreak of knowing their child may die young.

It has also been a year when many have experienced increased isolation and financial hardship. 

Throughout the year, our focus has been on providing as much care as we safely can. We have focused on the safety and 
needs of children and families; the safety and wellbeing of our staff, supporters and volunteers; and protecting the financial 
sustainability of CHAS.

Since the outset of the pandemic and throughout, we asked children and families how best we could support them. A year 
on, our hospices remain open; our virtual children’s hospice is now an integrated part of our services; we have doubled our 
support for children in their own home; and there is now a joint CHAS/NHS team in every children’s hospital across Scotland. 
I am proud that staff and volunteers rallied to ensure our services were rapidly re-imagined and transformed in the face of the 
challenges presented by the virus, and proud that our partnership working with other agencies deepened and widened during 
the pandemic. 

It has also been a year of extraordinary financial uncertainty during which the pandemic significantly hampered our ability 
to raise the essential funds needed to maintain the provision of our hospice services. Unprecedented restrictions on social 
contact resulted in the cancellation of many fundraising activities and the closure of our shops for extended periods. This 
financial uncertainty was felt most acutely at times when the future direction of COVID-19 restrictions, together with 
mitigating measures in terms of government support, were unknown or needed to be changed at short notice.

Chair’s Statement

On behalf of the Board and CHAS, I am thankful for 
the emergency financial aid granted by the Scottish 
Government, along with other crucial support provided 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. These have 
been critical to our ability to successfully navigate the 
economic uncertainty wrought by the pandemic thus far. 
Furthermore, they will provide financial resilience against 
the long-term economic fallout from the pandemic, as 
governmental economic interventions are gradually 
withdrawn.

In what has been a remarkable year in so many respects, 
I was also delighted we brought the Ardoch estate into 
CHAS ownership. This extraordinary gift, beautifully 
situated in the Loch Lomond and Trossachs National Park, 
will enable CHAS to provide support to even more families, 
both directly and through the commercial operation of the 
estate.

Above all, I am grateful to all our supporters who have 
been unwavering and offered exceptional generosity. 
Their ingenuity in finding a myriad of ways to continue 
fundraising for our cause, even during the hardest of times, 
has truly been inspiring.
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Chair’s Statement

After each serving for around six years as trustees, Elaine Love and Fiona Gillespie stepped down from the CHAS Board in 
February and May 2021, respectively. I am thankful for their service and leadership, and they leave with my very best wishes. 
Meanwhile, I was delighted to welcome Deirdre McCormick and Graham Wood as trustees early in 2021/22. 

After 12 years on the Board and four years as Chair, I am stepping down in September. I am thrilled that Peta Hay is taking 
on the role of Chair, with Dr Eddie Doyle as Vice Chair. Both Peta and Eddie are long standing trustees with impeccable 
credentials to lead the CHAS Board. 

I feel lucky to have played a part in leading such a wonderful organisation that provides so much vital support to children 
and families going through the toughest of times. It has been a privilege to serve on the CHAS Board, and I will continue to 
support CHAS and its work in the years ahead.

On behalf of the Board, our heartfelt thanks go to all staff and volunteers for their dedication, determination and innovative 
thinking in responding to a challenging and uncertain new reality. I also want to reiterate our thanks to the many donors, 
partners and other organisations - both individual and community based - whose support is crucial to help us deliver our 
ambition of reaching every family.

Looking ahead, 2022 will be CHAS’s 30th year. Without the continued commitment of our funders, our supporters, our 
partners and our people, CHAS would not be here today. What CHAS does is precious. We remain determined to continue 
making a difference and support all the families across Scotland that need us.

George M Reid,
Chair of the Board of Directors
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Children’s Hospices Across Scotland – better known as CHAS 
– is proud to be the national provider of children’s hospice 
services in Scotland. CHAS staff and our dedicated volunteer 
force make a difference by offering integrated palliative and 
end of life care and respite for the whole family through: our 
two hospices, Rachel House in Kinross and Robin House in 
Balloch; our CHAS at Home service supporting families in 
their own homes; and our teams working in every children’s 
hospital across the whole of Scotland. This is made possible 
through working in partnership with the NHS and our Local 
Authority colleagues.

This year was undoubtedly shaped by the global COVID-19 
pandemic, which resulted in a rapid shift in demand for our 
services from families, partners and stakeholders. Families 
felt particularly vulnerable and isolated and, more than ever, 
needed us to stand with them. The crisis also impacted our 
fundraising activities significantly with events cancelled and 
our shops having to close in line with government restrictions. 

The pandemic happened at a time when increasing our care is crucial. We have worked with Public Health Scotland in 
commissioning updated research - Children in Scotland requiring Palliative Care (ChiSP3) - which showed that the number 
of babies, children and young people with life-shortening conditions in Scotland is increasing. There are over 16,700 children 
and young people aged 0-21 who are likely to die young and, although many are stable, about three die from a life-shortening 
condition every week in Scotland. We are determined to reach them all.

As we strive to achieve this, we are focusing on the need to continue to provide support to children and families, while 
innovating quickly. This has accelerated the ways in which our services are being delivered in order to make it possible to 
reach every dying child or young person in Scotland. Throughout the pandemic, our hospices remained open; providing 
crisis care, unplanned care and support to families whose child is at end of life, whilst our expanded CHAS at Home service 
operated across Scotland, providing care and support in families’ homes. Within days of the first COVID-19 lockdown, we 
launched the world’s first virtual children’s hospice - a lifeline to children and families. Carefully listening to, and being guided 
by, the needs of the children and families that we support has enabled us to continue to deliver care and respond nimbly 
throughout the pandemic. We could not have done this without our supporters who have stood by our side throughout and 
found new and innovative ways to raise money, showing their unwavering care and support. 

We were also proud to launch our manifesto, ‘Time is Precious, Time to Act’. Informed by the children and families we support, 
the manifesto calls for politicians across all parties to back a range of actions that will improve the lives of all families across 
the country who face the heartbreak of knowing their child will die young. 

Strategic Review 

We have reached the end of year one of our updated 
strategic plan, ‘Reaching Every Family in Scotland  
2020-2023’, which is a multi-year, multi-initiative 
programme. The first year of the plan has been impacted 
significantly by the pandemic with some initiatives being 
postponed or brought forward and prioritised. But at the 
very heart of our plan lies the key priority areas that we will 
focus on: to deliver more care; develop our people; grow 
our organisation; and continue to work in partnership. 

https://www.chas.org.uk/about-us/our-vision/our-publications#ChiSP3
https://www.chas.org.uk/about-us/our-vision/our-publications#CHAS-Manifesto
https://www.chas.org.uk/about-us/our-vision/our-publications#CHAS-Plan
https://www.chas.org.uk/about-us/our-vision/our-publications#CHAS-Plan
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Care
Our focus has been on providing as much care as possible and doing so safely. We are committed to supporting the best possible 
quality of life and care for every child; providing a service which is agile to meet the fluctuating, unpredictable and urgent needs 
of children and families as they emerge; and providing essential care to those who need it most. 

Over the last year, CHAS has directly supported 441 babies, children and young people (2020: 477), plus their parents, 
siblings and wider families and many more through our hospital teams. For every child we support, we have also supported 
approximately four family members. We accepted 84 referrals of babies, children and young people (2020: 138) during the 
year and these included many with extremely complex medical and support needs, but the number reduced sharply during the 
pandemic. We supported 60 babies, children and young people (2020: 83) who died during the year.

Supporting children and families in hospices 
While our hospices have remained open throughout the pandemic and we have prioritised end of life and unplanned care, we 
have also been able to offer support for symptom management; deterioration in clinical condition; care package breakdown; 
housing crisis or whenever a family’s resilience is challenged by these difficult circumstances. 

Due to COVID-19 restrictions, we were required to reduce the bed capacity at each of our hospices; our bereavement suites, the 
Rainbow Rooms, remained open. We were able to support 216 admissions of babies, children and young people (2020: 955) to 
our Rachel House and Robin House hospices. We have operated with an average of 70.4% occupancy, albeit based on reduced 
capacity, throughout the year with 1,466 children’s bed nights (2020: 3,635) and 56 Rainbow Room nights (2020: 175). 

Supporting children and families at home
With many families shielding, we adapted our staffing model to increase capacity in CHAS at Home. Nurses and support workers 
based in Rachel House, Robin House, Aberdeen and Inverness joined together to offer complex support to families across the 
country. This enabled us to provide 1,992 visits (2020: 1,156), an increase of 72% on the previous year, during which we delivered 
6,453 hours of care. Our Home Support Volunteers were able to provide a further 174 visits. Our Family Support Team has 
provided invaluable support from social workers and other specialists.

When pandemic restrictions required, and in line with government guidelines, we prioritised end of life and emergency care.  
We have adapted our services by working even more closely with community staff and with NHS colleagues to help families  
get the care they need. We have also supported children’s care packages and the national COVID-19 response.

We continued to deliver Care24 alongside NHS Lothian, providing end of life care at home for those age 0-25. An evaluation 
report showed we met all intended outcomes and supported families across the Lothians to be at home during the end of  
their child’s life. This evaluation will inform how we expand the service to reach every child and family that would benefit from 
this support. 
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Strategic Review 

Supporting children and families in hospital 
We have continued to expand our collaborative work in 
hospitals and with NHS boards and we are proud to have a 
CHAS-funded presence in every children’s hospital in Scotland. 
The joint CHAS/NHS Supportive and Palliative Care Team 
in the Royal Hospital for Children in Glasgow marked its first 
anniversary during the year. The first hospital-based specialist 
paediatric palliative care team in Scotland, the team works to 
ensure that families receive a truly integrated service. In the  
first year (September 2019 to August 2020), the team had  
86 referrals with 60% of those not previously known to CHAS. 

In Grampian, we jointly fund the Consultant Paediatrician (with 
an interest in palliative care) employed by NHS Grampian and 
based in the Royal Aberdeen Children’s Hospital. As part of this 
team, we also employ a Diana Children’s Nurse and involve 
Nursing Support Volunteers. During the year, the team launched 
a Home Support pilot to provide practical, emotional and sibling 
support in rural areas. 

In February 2021, we partnered with NHS Lothian to appoint 
a Consultant in Paediatric Palliative Medicine at the Royal 
Hospital for Sick Children, in Edinburgh. We are fully funding 
this post, further increasing our presence in the Lothians. The 
postholder will work closely with NHS staff, our Diana Children’s 
Nurse and other staff who are based in the Simpson’s neonatal 
unit and have provided complex care to babies during the 
pandemic.

Supporting children and families virtually 
Through our world-first virtual children’s hospice, which 
launched this year, we reached many hundreds of children 
and families, with 5,319 participants (some of whom attended 
many sessions). Our virtual children’s hospice offers families 
nursing, medical and healthcare advice by phone and video; 
bereavement support, including our first-ever virtual candlelit 
service and virtual remembering days; money and benefits 
advice; kindness calls and proactive triaging of families’ needs; 
and practical advice concerning COVID-19. Children benefit 
from online activities and therapeutic interventions, including 
storytelling sessions, music therapy, play therapy, and social 
contact with trained volunteers. It also offers remote consulting 
and a more consistent support package for siblings. 

Beyond the pandemic, we aim to deliver more care than ever before, and further define our unique contribution involving 
children and families in the transformation to provide a multi-agency response for children and families across Scotland. 

People 
It is crucial that our people are healthy, fully engaged by their work, and motivated to allow them to fully support children and 
families. This has been a priority in our strategy, but the pandemic has increased the urgency around this, accelerating plans and 
supporting people in adapting at pace to new ways of working. 
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In January 2021, we launched our Wellbeing Strategy and Charter, informed by staff and volunteers. The COVID-19 pandemic 
acted as a catalyst for this work to counter any adverse effects on the wellbeing of our people as they confronted new and 
unfamiliar challenges. Consequently, we introduced several interventions to ensure immediate support is in place for our 
people. A wellbeing hub containing a wide range of resources was created, several interactive Toolbox Talks and wellbeing 
workshops were also held as well as providing forums for volunteers. Careful focus has been given to the wellbeing of pandemic 
homeworkers, and care staff who are working in more isolated ways than ever before.

As a mission-driven charity it is important we demonstrate the CHAS values (care, respect, honesty and accountability) in 
all our interactions with colleagues, volunteers, supporters, external partners, and the children and families we care for. These 
values attract and retain talented staff and volunteers and inspire supporters, stakeholders and partners as well as ensuring 
children and families have the best possible experience. The launch of our Values and Behaviours Framework has been crucial in 
collectively enhancing the culture of the organisation, making CHAS an even better place to work, volunteer and support. 

It is critical to demonstrate we can listen and act on the views of our people at CHAS and our 2019/20 staff survey provided 
positive results. The survey provided insightful cross-organisational comments and function-specific feedback. We used this 
to devise a central action plan which was accessible to all staff and each theme was matched to a CHAS value sponsored by a 
member of our Senior Leadership Team. A total of 14 working groups were set up and staff members work collaboratively across 
departments to generate ideas and solutions, fostering a culture of innovation. 

As part of our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, we focused on our four equality outcomes: supporting more families 
from diverse backgrounds; providing children, families and supporters with a culturally competent service; recruiting more 
diverse employees and volunteers; and ensuring people experience CHAS as an inclusive place to work or volunteer. This  
has helped to enable a psychologically safe culture across CHAS, promotes a sense of belonging and encourages idea-sharing 
and creativity. 

Throughout 2020/21, CHAS staff have taken part in 4,436 hours of learning and development activity. One of our major areas  
of focus this year has been the Leadership Development Programme with 46 delegates having completed the programme by July 
2021. We have also supported 447 attendances at 26 types of internal learning events which has included Moving and Handling, 
Basic Life Support, Pain and Symptom Assessment, Neurological Learning Set (Cerebral Palsy like conditions), as well as all 
staff events such as a Resilience and Change Webinar, and various Toolbox Talks. 

The Care Team continue to carry out clinical supervision to which we have had 203 attendances at 67 clinical supervision 
sessions. We have sponsored eight ongoing and new qualifications across CHAS. Externally we have seen 28 attendances by 
staff at 24 virtual seminars, with coaching and professional supervision provided to staff as required.

We continue to monitor mandatory learning with staff having 
completed a total of 3,180 hours over the year. Furthermore, 
our Learning and Development Team has been engaged 
in employee enrichment projects including piloting a new 
staff review and development process, launched a review 
of employee induction, and have developed the Learning 
Hub on the CHAS intranet which hosts various resources for 
professional development. 

With over 750 volunteers, we progressed those elements of 
our volunteer strategy that could be delivered safely through 
the pandemic. In doing so, we recruited 20 volunteers and 
established nine new volunteer roles, with volunteering activities 
often taking place remotely. Volunteers donated 8,900 hours 
of their time, and our volunteer survey showed that 96% of 
respondents are proud to volunteer with CHAS and a similar 
percentage feel they have a positive impact on children and 
families.

https://www.chas.org.uk/about-us/our-vision/our-publications#EDI
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Growth 
In a year like no other, we are indebted to our supporters who, 
despite the economic uncertainty created by the pandemic, 
rallied together and delivered fundraising activities in new  
and innovative ways, raising an incredible £5.0 million  
(2020: £5.5 million).

Income from donations was further bolstered in October 2020 
as the gifting process of Ardoch concluded, making CHAS 
the owners of the beautiful 133-acre West Dunbartonshire 
estate. Additionally, the Ardoch Foundation donated £1 million 
which will support the running of the estate as a business 
venture which we hope will contribute to the fulfilment of our 
aim of reaching every family in Scotland who needs our help. 
This exceptional act of generosity added £2.2 million to our 
donations for the year, which were £7.2 million in total.

Many of our traditional fundraising activities and events were cancelled but our supporters’ spirit is strong, and they remain 
dedicated to being there for every child and family that needs our help. Our 2020 supporter survey showed that 95% of our 
supporters are proud to support CHAS and 96% say they feel valued for their support showing continued love and care for  
the cause. 

This year our supporters and volunteers found innovative new ways to fundraise for CHAS in their own communities. From selling 
facemasks and knitted rainbows, to taking on sponsored forfeit challenges and hosting online concerts, our supporters went 
above and beyond despite not being able to come together in person for most of the year. We were also immensely proud to run 
our first ever virtual challenge events with Run100Raise100 in September 2020 and the 280,000 Step Challenge in February 
2021.

We worked to develop a different approach to what a fundraising partnership with CHAS could look like. Some of our corporate 
partners have helped to provide vital Personal Protective Equipment for our care staff, and where they have needed to furlough 
their own teams, they have helped by delivering activity packages to CHAS families and supporting virtual fundraising 
opportunities. Our trust partners enabled us to fund and subsequently open new kitchens at both Rachel House and Robin House. 
Many supporters who had previously attended our in-person events were also there for the virtual versions that have replaced 
them during the pandemic. We also saw an increase in support from our current philanthropic donors and new donors committed 
to supporting CHAS during a time of crisis. 

Our priority in fundraising throughout the pandemic has been our supporters, keeping them up to date with developments at 
CHAS and thanking them for their ongoing care and support despite their own anxieties and financial pressures. Thank you calls 
made to many of our supporters were a real highlight and provided us with the opportunity to check that our supporters were well. 
In a time where many have experienced isolation and loneliness, we recognise the difference that a friendly phone call can make. 
We were also overwhelmed with the response to our spring Share Your Joy appeal and summer fundraising campaigns where 
supporters continued to show their overwhelming support throughout.

With our focus on a world beyond the pandemic, we launched 
our biggest Christmas campaign yet. No-one should face 
the death of their child alone and that was the focus of our 
first ever TV advert, supported by radio, PR, digital and social 
media communications. The scale of the campaign meant 
we were able to reach a wider audience than ever before and 
bring thousands of new supporters on board. Through these 
channels we were able to go out with a confident ask for support 
and to grow awareness of CHAS. Our TV advert allowed us 
to demonstrate the reality of life for many of the families we 
support. The campaign raised more than £400,000.

Strategic Review 
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We are also humbled by the many individuals who choose to 
leave legacies to CHAS, which contributed £1.4 million  
(2020: £2.2 million) in vital income this year. While such 
income is inherently unpredictable from year to year, it is 
treasured and vital if we are to reach every child and family in 
Scotland that needs our support. Our total voluntary income for 
the year, comprising all donations and legacies, was £8.6 million 
(2020: £7.7 million).

Our shops also endured a tough year, with COVID-19 
restrictions on non-essential retail meaning that they were 
unable to open for 185 days during 2020/21. This was 
compounded by further closures resulting from essential works 
required to ensure that the shops could re-open in a manner 
that reduced risk to customers, volunteers and staff. When the 
shops were able to trade, our shoppers and volunteers came 
back in great numbers with increased average daily takings 
frequently recorded compared with the prior year. These takings 
helped our trading turnover for the year to reach £220,000 
(2020: £536,000).

Partnerships 
We simply could not deliver the work we do without our partners which has been especially apparent throughout the last year. 
Our ambition is to continue to work in partnership with others to ensure Scotland is the best for children with life-shortening 
conditions. 

Through our agile response to the pandemic, we have been able to inspire the public around our cause resulting in  
record-breaking media coverage for CHAS, thereby maintaining a strong level of public awareness. 

This year we commissioned the York Health Economics Consortium (YHEC) to undertake an economic evaluation of the 
services CHAS provided in 2018/19. The study demonstrated that for every £1 of public funding received by CHAS, we 
generated £6.24 of public value.

Before the pandemic, the number of children CHAS was able to support increased by more than 25% over five years. This is 
partly due to our close partnership working. We have been able to reach more children and families thanks to the sustained 
investment from the Scottish Government of £30 million over five years and three-year funding agreement with the Convention 
of Scottish Local Authorities (CoSLA), mirrored by the humbling generosity of the Scottish public. 

Working in this new virtual way, we have been able to focus on Project ECHO (Extension of Community Healthcare Outcomes) 
where we completed five communities of practice and have a further four in progress. We were also proud to maintain links 
with managed clinical networks operating in our field and assisted with the introduction and development of guidelines in 
conjunction with the Paediatric End of Life Care Network (PELiCaN).

CHAS continued to work alongside Edinburgh Napier University on a studentship opportunity called, ‘Ensuring culturally 
competent care for South Asian children and young people with life-shortening conditions and palliative care needs’. The aim  
of this PhD is to explore the palliative care experiences of South Asian families in Scotland to help inform future research.

We worked with Robert Gordon University to create a new student placement in our CHAS at Home team in Aberdeen. The 
student who successfully took up this placement went out on visits, took part in online discussions with clinical teams across 
CHAS and attended Project ECHO sessions. It also prompted five other students to join the team for one or two days at a time. 
All of this not only enables CHAS to develop the future nursing workforce but also deepens the understanding of our services, 
which we hope will generate additional referrals. We are keen to expand this area of work.

https://www.chas.org.uk/about-us/our-vision/our-publications#YHEC
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Section 172 Statement, Employee Engagement and Business Relationships
The trustees of Children’s Hospices Across Scotland are Directors for the purposes of company law. The Directors of CHAS, as 
those of all UK companies, must act in accordance with a set of general duties that are set out in section 172 of the Companies 
Act 2006. They must act in a way that they consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the charity for 
the benefits of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard to the following factors:

The likely consequences of any decision in the long term
Financial and operational sustainability is integral to our ability to deliver complex care to children and families, some of whom 
we support over many years and others who are sadly known to us for a much shorter time. The Directors focused attention 
on our long-term financial planning, seeking to maximise the impact of our spending on children and families. We continue 
to evolve our model of care, in order to respond effectively to the changing landscape created by the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the changing needs of children and families and our ambition to maximise our reach. Key decisions reached by the Directors 
continue to be supported by robust long-term financial projections, including the decision to operate the Ardoch estate from a 
new trading subsidiary. 

The interests of the company’s employees
Our most valuable asset has always been our people. A key enabler in the delivery of our strategic plan will be our continuing 
ability to attract, motivate and retain the best staff and volunteers. We recognise that the pandemic has been an extremely 
difficult period for all our people: from those delivering front line care working long hours, wearing necessary but uncomfortable 
Personal Protective Equipment; colleagues in administrative roles, some of whom have now worked from home for over a year; 
staff whom we have needed to furlough and volunteers whose roles were necessarily paused. Numerous actions were taken to 
ensure that our people remained supported through the unprecedented events since March 2020, including the launch of our 
Wellbeing Strategy and Charter, and our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy which sets out our intention to continue to 
recruit staff and volunteers from diverse backgrounds, supporting them to be successful in roles across the organisation.

Business relationships with suppliers, customers and others
Children and families are integral to the design and delivery of our care. The CHAS Plan 2020-2023 was developed following 
extensive consultation with the children and families that we support, our staff, volunteers and other interested parties. 
We regularly sought the advice of children and parents about how to deliver care through the pandemic. There is parent 
representation on our Board and families regularly speak at CHAS events about their experience of using our services. 
Supporter engagement is a cornerstone of our fundraising strategy and is enabled by the excellent relationships we maintain 
with communities, trusts and corporate donors. This continues to be evidenced in our supporter surveys. The Directors are 
hugely appreciative of the multitude of ways in which CHAS is supported by so many individuals and organisations.

Impact on the community and the environment
Our hospices are integral parts of the community in and around Kinross and Balloch. This is evidenced by the many ways that 
these communities, together with others all over Scotland and beyond, support the work that we do. While our work has 
a demonstrably positive impact on the children and families we care for, we remain mindful of the environmental impact of  
our operations. We have further developed the carbon reporting, first introduced to our Annual Report in 2020, as set out on 
page 20. The pandemic has accelerated changes in working practices, with increased homeworking and reduced business 
travel enabled by advances in technology. This is expected to contribute to further improvements in financial and environmental 
performance in the future.

High standards of business conduct
Our care and charity activities rightly operate in a highly regulated environment. We are committed to maintaining the highest 
possible level of care by meeting and, where possible exceeding, expectations set by Healthcare Improvement Scotland and the 
Care Inspectorate. We also aspire to the highest standards of fundraising through our membership of the Scottish Fundraising 
Standards Panel, with all our fundraising staff abiding by the Institute of Fundraising’s Codes of Conduct and Practice. We adhere 
to the requirements of the Lobbying (Scotland) Act 2016 in our relationships with elected members of the Scottish Parliament and 
other government officials.

The need to act fairly between members of the company
Our Board and its various Committees operate within clear terms of reference with reviews of Board effectiveness and a policy 
on Board rotation in place. Everything that we do, up to and including Board level, is underpinned by our organisational values of 
care, respect, honesty and accountability. During the year, an externally led comprehensive review of our governance processes 
took place. The review demonstrated very good organisational governance and the Board has commenced taking forward 
several recommendations for further improvement.

Strategic Review 

https://www.chas.org.uk/about-us/our-vision/our-publications#Annual-Report-2019-20
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Legal Status
Children’s Hospices Across Scotland is a company limited by guarantee of £1 per member and has no share capital. It is 
registered in Scotland with company number SC136410 and is governed by its Memorandum and Articles of Association dated 
28 February 1994, as amended 19 September 2016. The company was formerly registered as Children’s Hospice Association 
Scotland. On 26 October 2020, the name held at the Registrar of Companies for Scotland was changed to Children’s Hospices 
Across Scotland to better reflect the breadth of our work.

Children’s Hospices Across Scotland is registered on the Scottish Charity Register under number SC019724 and meets the 
definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Consequently, there is no liability to taxation on any of its 
income used for charitable purposes.

CHAS Trading Limited (company number SC155327) is a wholly owned subsidiary of Children’s Hospices Across Scotland. The 
company runs charity shops and participates in a clothes collection partnership. We plan to close this company during 2021/22 
and move our retail operations into Children’s Hospices Across Scotland.

Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited (company number SC686614) is also a wholly owned subsidiary of Children’s Hospices Across 
Scotland. The company was incorporated on 20 January 2021 and will operate commercial activities from the Ardoch estate, 
which was gifted to Children’s Hospices Across Scotland in October 2020.

Registered Office
Canal Court, 42 Craiglockhart Avenue, Edinburgh, EH14 1LT

Board of Directors
Children’s Hospices Across Scotland has a Board of Directors which is responsible for the overall governance of CHAS. For the 
purposes of charity law, the Directors are trustees of the charity. Directors who served during the year are listed as follows:
George M Reid (Chair)
Nicola M Connelly
Dr Edward I Doyle 
Fiona M Gillespie (resigned 17 May 2021)
Peta M Hay
Elaine Love (resigned 15 February 2021)
Donald R Macdonald
Jacqueline M Pepper
Stephen Reid
Peter J Smyth
Gwen P Westgarth

Company Secretary 
Jennifer Fairbairn

Our Context and Operating Environment



CHILDREN’S HOSPICES ACROSS SCOTLAND
ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS
31 MARCH 2021

12

Our Context and Operating Environment

Board Appointments
Directors are appointed in accordance with the Articles of Association and are recruited for their skills and experience in areas 
relevant to the activities of CHAS such as nursing, paediatrics, social services, business, legal, fundraising and public relations. 
Additionally, we have parent representation on our Board. During the year we commenced open recruitment for two trustees 
with nursing and property backgrounds; both subsequently joined the Board in May 2021.

Under the Articles of Association, Directors of CHAS are not entitled to any remuneration, but can be reimbursed for expenses 
incurred in carrying out their duties.

Board Meetings
Full Board meetings are held so that the Directors may review and agree matters of strategy and principle, as well as review 
performance against agreed plans and budgets. The Board and all Committees have continued to meet as per their respective 
schedules throughout the pandemic by using video conferencing. The Chief Executive and Senior Leadership Team attend all 
Board meetings. A comprehensive review of CHAS governance arrangements took place during the year and the Board has 
begun the implementation of several suggestions resulting from the findings of the review. These include greater generative 
discussion, more discussion of risk at Board and Committee meetings, and enhanced Board role descriptions. To facilitate better 
alignment with quarterly reporting cycles, the Board agreed to formally meet no fewer than four times per year.

Board Committees
Responsibility for key areas of activity and policy are delegated to Committees in accordance with Children’s Hospices Across 
Scotland’s Articles of Association and a Scheme of Delegation adopted by the Board. Each Committee normally meets at least 
four times each year and minutes of meetings are presented at Board meetings. Terms of reference for each of the Committees 
are reviewed and approved by the Board every two years. The current membership and remit of each of the three Board 
Committees is set out below. The Chief Executive and Senior Leadership Team attend Committee meetings as appropriate.

Clinical Care and Governance Committee 
The remit of this Committee focuses on providing leadership and strategic direction to the development of clinical governance 
across CHAS. It provides assurance that the care we provide is safe, effective, person centred and aligned with sectoral 
developments. The Committee ensures that the views of children, young people and families are incorporated in all aspects of 
our care development, delivery and review. The Committee ensures that excellence in care is maintained across CHAS through 
continuing professional development which includes reflective practice and staff appraisal.

Committee Members: Jacqueline M Pepper (Convenor), Dr Edward I Doyle, Gwen P Westgarth, Elaine Love (until 15 February 
2021).

Corporate Governance and Risk Committee
This Committee’s role is to maintain a strategic overview of the direction and performance of the Board, its Committees and 
CHAS. It ensures that key structures, policies and practices are in place to support effective management of risk, human 
resources and volunteering. The Committee ensures that CHAS is compliant with all employment and corporate aspects of the 
law, relevant regulations, and best practice.

Committee Members: George M Reid (Convenor), Peta M Hay, Donald R Macdonald, Peter J Smyth.

Finance and Audit Committee
The Finance and Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that robust financial governance and accountability exists 
throughout CHAS and that all financial aspects of the law, relevant regulations, and best practice are adhered to.

The Committee’s role is also to ensure that CHAS has appropriate controls over managing its assets and maximising its income, 
while ensuring major capital projects are managed to ensure the operational effectiveness of buildings and equipment. It is also 
responsible for supporting our auditor in ensuring that a robust statutory audit of our annual accounts is carried out each year.

Committee Members: Stephen Reid (Convenor), Nicola M Connelly, Fiona M Gillespie (until 17 May 2021), Gemma Rankine  
(co-opted Committee member).
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Executive Management
Operational responsibilities and day to day running of CHAS are carried out by the Senior Leadership Team.

Chief Executive
Rami Okasha

Senior Leadership Team
Dr Patrick J Carragher, Medical Director
Jennifer Fairbairn, Director of Finance and Corporate Services
Susan K Hogg, Director for Children and Families
Tracey Irving, Director of Organisational Development (from 3 December 2020)
Iain McAndrew, Director of Fundraising and Communications

Remuneration arrangements
The remuneration arrangements for the Chief Executive and Senior Leadership Team (excluding the Medical Director) are 
designed to offer a package which fits their level of responsibilities and is in accordance with market demands. Current 
incremental salary scales were set in 2013 following a benchmarking exercise with other similar sector organisations as well as 
consideration of senior roles in NHS Boards in Scotland. No cost of living pay awards were made during the year.

Legal and Administrative Information
When required, CHAS uses the services of the following professional advisors:
•   Harper Macleod LLP, The Ca’d’oro, 45 Gordon Street, Glasgow G1 3PE
•   Turcan Connell, Princes Exchange, 1 Earl Grey Street, Edinburgh EH3 9EE
•   RSM, First Floor, Quay 2, 139 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh, EH3 9QG
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Our Operating Model 
CHAS provides paediatric palliative and end of life care in hospices, homes and hospitals. Most of our staff are engaged  
in the frontline delivery of care while others enable and facilitate this. Volunteers undertake a wide range of roles, including 
frontline care. 

Our operating model has proven resilient throughout the pandemic, and we have adapted to meet government guidelines and 
families’ changing needs. Adaptations include reducing bed usage at the hospices to enable physical distancing and staff moving 
to CHAS at Home on an interim basis to meet the increasing need for support in families’ homes. In addition, we launched 
the world’s first virtual children’s hospice as a way of reaching children and families when hospice capacity was significantly 
restricted.

Paediatric palliative care is a multi-disciplinary approach to supporting children with life-shortening conditions. This includes 
physical, emotional, social and spiritual elements from diagnosis through to death and beyond, to enhance the quality of life for 
the young person and their family. Key features include the management of distressing symptoms, short breaks, and end of life 
care. This care begins from the point a child’s condition is diagnosed or recognised, and extends right the way through to either 
bereavement, or transition to adult services. Our care constantly evolves to reflect research from relevant disciplines. 

Our services are free to children and families, and we seek to ensure our clinical services are available everywhere, responsive, 
person-led, collaborative, and high quality.

Everywhere
CHAS operates two hospices: Rachel House in Kinross and Robin House in Balloch. They support families from all parts of 
Scotland and form a key element of the national children’s palliative care infrastructure. We provide home care in every Local 
Authority area, including through CHAS at Home, a volunteer programme, and end of life care. Our Family Support Team 
provides social work, chaplaincy, counselling, resilience, activity and play therapy to children and wider families.

CHAS operates a network of staff based in NHS settings, with provision reflecting local circumstances. Our Diana Children’s 
Nurses are senior practitioners embedded in NHS boards to support the development of paediatric palliative nursing. We have 
an expanding multi-disciplinary hospital presence in Aberdeen, Edinburgh, Glasgow and Kilmarnock.

Our virtual children’s hospice means that, for children and families who are unable to come to our hospices, we use technology to 
bring our hospice services to them instead.

Responsive and person-led
We tailor our care based on the needs, choices and wishes of each child and their family. Medical advances mean that many 
children living with life-shortening conditions now live for longer than would have been expected in the past but are more 
technically dependent. We adapt care to their needs and wishes as they grow older to support them with transition, working 
closely with colleagues in the adult health care sector. We support an increasing number of children who are known to us for  
only a short time before their death and are involved in anticipatory care planning.

Collaborative
CHAS employs a wide range of professionals who work together in multi-disciplinary teams, pioneering models of care  
that integrate health, social care and social work practice. Working with and involving children and families is an essential 
component of our work. We also work collaboratively with a wide range of voluntary and statutory partners, including NHS 
managed clinical networks.

High quality
CHAS is committed to providing the highest possible quality of care for children and young people. Our hospices are regulated 
by Healthcare Improvement Scotland, and our care at home by the Care Inspectorate. We use the Scottish Government’s Health 
and Social Care Standards to guide our work and we have a strong focus on quality improvement. Integrated family support 
plans, and an increased emphasis on data collection, help to continually improve quality. Sound clinical care and governance 
arrangements are in place to help ensure the provision of high quality care and the diligent management of clinical risks.

Our Context and Operating Environment
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Engagement with employees and volunteers
Our staff and volunteers are our most valuable asset, and we are pleased that many of them forge rewarding long-term career 
paths with us. We seek to attract the best talent to help us deliver our strategic plans and support them to be engaged in our 
work. This includes ensuring:
•   senior employees attend all Board and Committee meetings with shadowing opportunities available for others
•   a wide range of care, fundraising and operational staff deliver presentations at each Board meeting
•   there is extensive staff and volunteer involvement in the delivery of our CHAS Plan initiatives
•   effective processes are in place to support wellbeing, including professional supervision for clinical teams and an employee 

assistance programme for all staff; and
•   there are regular reviews of pay and conditions.
 
Financial Review
In common with most other aspects of life, COVID-19 has had a significant impact on our financial circumstances throughout 
2020/21. Shortly before the pandemic emerged, the Directors approved another deficit budget as we continued to carefully 
manage our reserves in order to fund our ambition to maximise care and reach. These plans were necessarily paused as part of 
a swift and decisive financial response to the profound economic uncertainty that was unleashed by COVID-19. 

Staple activities like fundraising and retail, which have long been the mainstay of our income, were reduced significantly and at 
times paused entirely as a range of restrictions on social and economic activity to curb the spread of COVID-19 were imposed. 
This created enduring uncertainty around our ability to generate income and was compounded, albeit understandably, as the 
provision of emergency government financial support evolved in response to various stages of the pandemic.

In addition to this government support, we are also enormously grateful to all our supporters who continue to generate funds in 
imaginative and inspiring ways during what has been an intensely challenging time for all. Their commitment to our cause has 
been integral to helping CHAS navigate the impact of the pandemic thus far and is truly extraordinary.

The provision of government COVID-19 financial support and the exceptional gift of the Ardoch estate bolstered total income 
this year, which reached £19.2 million (2020: £15.8 million) as set out in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities on 
page 28. Meanwhile expenditure reduced to £18.3 million (2020: £21.6 million) as some activities were curtailed as a result of 
the pandemic.

Consequently, net income from operating activities for the year is just below £1.0 million (2020: £5.7 million net expenditure). 
Once adjusted for remeasurement losses of £7.3 million (2020: £2.3 million gains) on our pension deficit, offset by investment 
gains of £2.7 million (2020: £1.4 million losses), the group’s net funds decreased to stand at £22.8 million on 31 March 2021 
(2020: £26.4 million).

An overview of what has been, in so many respects, an extraordinary year is provided below.

Income
In normal times, most of our income is generated through a multitude of fundraising activities. These are the result of the 
generosity of the public in supporting a variety of activities, such as community fundraising, individual giving, philanthropic 
donations, grants from charitable trusts, corporate partnerships, major events and trading activities through our shops.

Throughout 2020/21, however, the pandemic had a significant and adverse effect on fundraising activities and hence, income. 
Government restrictions introduced to keep everybody safe, while necessary, have resulted in significant and prolonged income 
decreases, as major events and community fundraising initiatives were postponed and shops were required to close. While the 
success to date of the vaccination programme may provide cause for optimism, the longevity and severity of the economic 
damage caused by the pandemic will be strongly associated with how rapidly our fundraising will be able to recover.

In what has otherwise been an exceptionally challenging year for our fundraising activities, income from donations was buoyed 
by the extremely generous gift of the Ardoch estate. The estate came into CHAS ownership in October 2020, together with 
a substantial accompanying cash gift. These exceptional gifts contributed a total of £2.2 million to donations income, which 
otherwise would have suffered a 10% decrease this year. When the Ardoch gifts are included, donations were £7.2 million  
(2020: £5.5 million).
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Legacies are an integral part of our income and enable us to reach more children and young people with life-shortening 
conditions thanks to the generosity of those who have so kindly thought of CHAS in their will. We value this income greatly,  
but it is by nature unpredictable. This year has seen a marked reduction in legacy income which totalled £1.4 million  
(2020: £2.2 million).

Income from sales at our four charity shops across Kinross and Dunfermline was significantly reduced as a result of government 
restrictions imposed as a response to the pandemic. Our shops were legally required to close for around half of this financial 
year, and further trading days were lost as essential COVID-19 safety measures were introduced. While encouraging takings 
were recorded on the days that we were able to open, the impact of coronavirus saw our trading income fall by 59% to just 
£220,000 (2020: £536,000).

In addition to the above income generated by our fundraising activities, we continue to receive statutory funding from 
government. Ongoing core funding from NHS Scotland, Scottish Local Authorities and the Scottish Government provided  
to support our provision of children’s hospice services across Scotland totalled £7.0 million (2020: £7.0 million). 

Investment income also decreased sharply this year, falling by one-third to £366,000 (2020: £549,000). This was primarily 
a consequence of fewer companies issuing dividends in the wake of the pandemic, while interest receivable remained almost 
static at £51,000 (2020: £52,000).

Emergency COVID-19 financial support
CHAS was fortunate to receive substantial financial support from government as the pandemic curbed many of our key 
fundraising activities and the in-person provision of hospice services became more operationally challenging and costly. This 
support was instrumental in our ability to sustain jobs, avoid compulsory redundancies and continue service provision in the 
face of great uncertainty during the year. Moreover, it enabled us to concentrate on adapting our services to meet the needs 
of children and families during the pandemic, in which the launch of our virtual children’s hospice played an integral role; and 
allowed us to continue to invest in our hospital teams to enable the continued integration of the support provided to children and 
families across the healthcare system.

This support comprised two main threads: furlough income from the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) operated by 
HM Treasury; and the provision of grant funding from the Scottish Government to the Scottish hospice sector. No emergency 
financial support was received in the previous financial year and, at the time of writing, the CJRS is expected to close at the end 
of September 2021.

Like many employers in the UK, CHAS used the CJRS to furlough staff who were unable to fulfil their usual roles owing to the 
pandemic. Over the course of the year, we were supported with £1.4 million in furlough grant funding, the majority of which was 
during the two main lockdowns in Scotland: in the early stages of the pandemic in spring 2020 and during renewed restrictions 
imposed following the second wave in the winter of 2020/21. Furlough funding covered 9.8% of our total staff costs this financial 
year. Staff from a range of operational areas were furloughed from time to time over the past year. 

Further support was received from the Scottish Government as part of measures targeted at providing greater financial stability 
across the hospice sector. This support amounted to £1.3 million for 2020/21. A further £178,000 was received to fund all 
payroll costs connected with the provision of the widely reported £500 bonus awarded to all health and social care employees in 
Scotland, in recognition of their efforts throughout the pandemic.

In order to further support the sector through the anticipated financial challenges that lie ahead, the Scottish Government 
confirmed the provision of an additional £3.2 million in emergency support in late March 2021. This additional funding was 
received early in the new financial year and was a response to concerns expressed across the sector about the ongoing impact 
of the pandemic on 2021/22 budgets, as other forms of government support are withdrawn at a time when fundraising still faces 
significant pressures. As such, the funding has been included in deferred income and sundry debtors in the Balance Sheet.

In addition to the above, our shops received emergency funding targeted at the retail sector through the Scottish Government 
Strategic Framework Business Fund and Coronavirus Business Support Fund initiatives. This resulted in a total of £95,000 of 
additional much-needed income for our shops. 

Our Context and Operating Environment
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Expenditure 
Total expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2021 was £18.3 million (2020: £21.6 million). This 15% reduction impacted all 
main cost categories and was a direct consequence of the pandemic.

As a provider of person-centred palliative care, it has always been the case that most of our expenditure comprises the costs 
of employing our dedicated workforce. Difficult but necessary decisions, however, were reached to pause almost all new 
recruitment, not provide a cost of living award, and not to renew the contracts of some temporary staff. These actions resulted  
in a reduction in staff costs which were £14.4 million (2020: £15.3 million). 

While such a saving was welcome in the circumstances, significantly larger decreases were seen across our other operating 
costs. Non-payroll costs fell back significantly to only £3.9 million (2020: £6.3 million) as a result of decreased activity levels 
during the pandemic. The impact on individual cost lines within the Statement of Financial Activities is considered below.

The cost of charitable activities decreased to £14.6 million (2020: £17.1 million), driving the overall reduction in expenditure this 
year. Ensuring the safety of the babies, children, young people and their families that use our hospices, together with our staff 
and volunteers, is our main priority. Consequently, we operated both Rachel House and Robin House with a capacity of three 
beds and a bereavement suite throughout the year in order to ensure physical distancing and keep everyone safe. This saw a 
significant reduction in hospice operating costs such as catering, clinical supplies, staff travel and patient transfers.

While increases in the above areas of expenditure are expected as the pandemic recedes, the above illustrates areas where 
savings have resulted from expenditure being avoided altogether. In some other areas, however, cost reductions may be viewed 
as delayed expenditure rather than representing genuine savings. For instance, the various government restrictions over the 
course of the past year saw a significant reduction in property repairs and maintenance across our estate, with generally only 
safety-critical works taking place. While this reduces costs in the short term, it is likely to have a significant impact in the coming 
years as we catch up with our property maintenance programme.

The impact of COVID-19 was also evidenced by the Cost of Generating Voluntary Income falling to £3.1 million  
(2020: £3.8 million). The pandemic resulted in the cancellation of all in-person fundraising events over the year and the fact  
that we were unable to host events such as our Ladies Lunches and Rocking Horse Ball this year had a significant impact on  
our fundraising costs. Investments in other fundraising initiatives were also postponed for similar reasons. Meanwhile the 
prolonged closures affecting our shops saw Cost of Goods Sold decline to £461,000 (2020: £654,000) although this year 
includes £56,000 related to Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited (2020: nil). Investment Management Costs fell slightly to £72,000 
(2020: £79,000) as our portfolios gradually recovered losses suffered in the immediate wake of the economic emergency 
created by COVID-19.

Support Costs represent expenditure incurred by the central administrative functions serving our organisation, namely: 
Executive Support, HR, Volunteering, Learning, Communications, IT, Information Governance, Facilities and Finance. These 
costs are allocated between charitable activities, the cost of generating voluntary income and trading based on staff numbers. 
Total Support Costs for the year ended 31 March 2021 were £3.9 million (2020: £4.1 million). While the reduction in such costs 
was less significant than in other areas of the organisation, these areas played a key role in facilitating our response to the 
pandemic, including the launch of our virtual children’s hospice, working from home, furlough, maintaining a high public profile 
and ensuring safe working practices throughout the pandemic.
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Lothian Pension Fund valuation
The annual actuarial valuation of CHAS’s deficit within the Lothian Pension Fund resulted in a significant charge to the 
Statement of Financial Activities this year. 

In total, remeasurement losses of £7.3 million (2020: £2.3 million gains) were recorded for the year ended 31 March 2021.  
This comprised £10.5 million in actuarial losses (2020: £3.8 million gains) offset by a positive return on assets of £3.2 million 
(2020: £1.5 million losses). The actuarial losses were principally a result of changes to two key assumptions that underpin the 
valuation. An additional 1% applied to the assumed rate of future annual increases to pensions in payment accounted for the bulk 
of the losses, although a reduction of 0.25% in the discount rate applied to future pension liabilities also had a materially adverse 
impact.

The effect of these two changes to assumptions was effectively amplified by increasing staff membership in the scheme.  
The accounts for 2020/21 are the first that have been produced following the 2020 triennial valuation of the Lothian Pension 
Fund. This valuation represented a step change in CHAS membership, as it is the first triennial valuation to reflect our increased 
staffing levels as we seek to reach every child and young person in Scotland who needs our help.

The strong return on assets is similar to that observed within CHAS’s own investment portfolios, which enjoyed a strong recovery 
following the initial pandemic-related market shock of March 2020.

Further details of the results for the financial year are provided in the Notes to the Accounts.

Reserves Policy and Unrestricted Funds
The CHAS Plans for 2017-20 and 2020-23 were developed in the knowledge that CHAS would continue to use its existing 
reserves to expand services and reach more children and families. Achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the CHAS Plan 
2020-23 is expected to require more expenditure than forecasted income in the short term and so deficits are projected for each 
of the next three years. CHAS continues to adopt a policy of retaining sufficient reserves to protect it against any future decline 
in income generated or funds held which may have an impact on service delivery.

Each year, the Finance and Audit Committee reviews the level of reserves designated for future operating costs and capital 
projects by considering risks associated with income streams, expenditure plans and other balance sheet items including 
CHAS’s pension commitments.

These risks include the receipt of fundraising income, the likelihood of downturns in the various sources of income, the 
desire to grow services provided to babies, children, young people and families, the possibility of the pension scheme deficit 
crystallising, and a potential significant fall in the value of the investment portfolio. During the last 12 months these risks have 
been compounded by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and its impacts. Action has been taken to manage these risks and the 
Directors have taken cognisance of these in their consideration of the reserves policy.

As they continue to adopt a policy of managing CHAS’s reserves for the benefit of babies, children, young people and families 
now and in the future, the Directors aim to hold reserves for future operating costs and capital projects equating to at least  
12 months of total resources expended. This policy is reviewed and adjusted annually as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2021, the Directors designated £5.2 million (2020: £9.5 million) for expected operating deficits and capital 
projects over the next three years. A further £13.0 million (2020: £12.1 million) related to the fixed asset fund has also been 
designated, the majority of this comprises our Rachel House and Robin House hospices. After the deduction of the pension 
deficit, the general reserve stands at £4.2 million (2020: £4.5 million).

CHAS has restricted funds totalling £362,000 (2020: £252,000) which are detailed in note 15 of the financial statements.
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Investments and Investment Policy
We are pleased to report that our investment portfolios recovered the losses suffered as the previous financial year drew to 
a close and an understanding of the likely impact that COVID-19 would have on worldwide economic activity emerged. The 
volatility wrought on global investment markets by the pandemic proved shorter lived than many had anticipated.

The market value of investments held across our two portfolios increased to reach £17.3 million as at 31 March 2021  
(2020: £15.2 million). This increase was fuelled by £2.5 million in gains relating to investments held throughout the financial 
year, offset by a net disinvestment of £359,000. In the main, this net disinvestment was attributable to gains realised on holdings 
disposed of during 2020/21, which totalled £249,000. Although a capital withdrawal of £1 million was made from the portfolios 
in April 2020 to bolster working capital as an immediate response to the pandemic, this came from cash balances already held 
in the portfolios and no liquidation of holdings was necessary.

CHAS engages two companies to manage investments on our behalf in diversified portfolios of shares, fixed interest securities 
and funds. The managers work within the parameters of a broad asset allocation framework agreed with the Finance and Audit 
Committee and performance is subject to close ongoing monitoring. There is no investment permitted in derivatives, or direct 
holdings in companies associated with the exploitation of children or the production of tobacco. Moreover, investment will only 
be made in securities that are readily realisable. The investment managers monitor corporate and supply chain practices on our 
behalf and securities will be disposed of should breaches of our ethical criteria come to light. 

Significant cash balances, whether held by the investment managers or directly by CHAS, are in fixed term deposits or  
interest-bearing accounts. Income from such balances, however, remains relatively small owing to historically low interest rates.

Both portfolios continue to be managed to provide a total return, balanced between capital growth and income. The overall risk 
profile of our investments, across our professionally managed portfolios and in cash balances directly held by us, is classified as 
low. Over the year ended 31 March 2021, returns from both portfolios exceeded the composite benchmark. The performance of 
both managers therefore continues to be considered satisfactory and close monitoring of performance continues.

The two investment management companies used by CHAS are:
•   Adam & Company Investment Management Limited, 25 St Andrew Square, Edinburgh EH2 1AF
•   Aberdeen Standard Capital, 1 George Street, Edinburgh EH2 2LL

For banking services, CHAS principally uses Bank of Scotland, The Mound, Edinburgh EH1 1YZ
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Energy and Carbon Reporting
The Directors are committed to balancing the many benefits that our activities provide to children, families and wider society 
whilst minimising environmental harm caused as a result of our operations. Our carbon summary for the year ended 31 March 
2021 is presented with prior year comparatives in the below table:

The above energy consumption and emissions statistics were subject to an Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme (ESOS) audit 
required as we employ more than 250 people. The ESOS audit broadly followed EN16247 / ISO50002 applied to transport 
operations. 

The reduction in our carbon footprint detailed in the above table, whilst welcome, has principally been a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Lower gas, electricity and water consumption is primarily due to our office premises being closed since the start of 
the pandemic. On the other hand, Rachel House and Robin House remained open throughout. While reduced capacity resulted 
in lower utilities consumption, the decrease in gas and electricity consumption at the hospices was limited to around 10%.

Total mileage recorded by our fleet of owned vehicles and in our employees’ own cars saw a 62% reduction which again, is 
largely attributable to the pandemic. Most of the travel that has taken place this year relates to the direct provision of care, 
particularly in community and hospital settings.

While the pandemic also resulted in a decrease in waste consumption, a significant increase in the conversion factor for landfill 
waste, which is set by the UK Government, has resulted in an increased carbon footprint from this activity. 

We have developed a Carbon Footprint and Sustainability Performance Action Plan which has identified ways in which we can 
improve our environmental performance. Specific actions that we will undertake include relatively simple initiatives, such as 
the launch of internal recycling and energy awareness campaigns, to more substantial projects such as the review of property 
insulation and thermal performance, and reducing the average age of our motor fleet.

Consumption
2021

Conversion 
Factor  

(per kg of CO2 
emissions)

2021

CO2  
Emissions 

(Tonnes)
2021

Consumption
2020

Conversion 
Factor  

(per kg of CO2 
emissions) 

2020

CO2  
Emissions 

(Tonnes)
2020

Utilities

Gas 1,391,886 kWh 0.184 255.93 1,559,637 kWh 0.184 286.74

Electricity 512,885 kWh 0.233 119.57 655,071 kWh 0.256 167.44

Water 6,130 m3 0.344 2.11 6,128 m3 0.344 2.11

Transport

Owned Fleet 63,612 miles 0.236 14.99 115,501 miles 0.268 30.96

Grey Fleet 145,636 miles 0.254 37.03 375,602 miles 0.254 95.50

Waste

Landfill 14.03 tonnes 458.176 6.43 17.94 tonnes 99.759 1.79

Mixed and  
Paper Recycling 28.13 tonnes 21.317 0.60 38.78 tonnes 21.354 0.83

Total Carbon 
Footprint   435.46   585.37
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Outlook
The outlook for future years is complex, internally and externally. Whilst CHAS remains a strong, well-governed and well-led 
organisation delivering clear public value, the context in which our services operate has changed dramatically as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic has required sudden and dramatic changes to the way in which we operate services, run the 
charity, and raise funds. It is likely that these effects will be long-lasting.

Strategic outlook
The health and social care environment we work in remains deeply affected by COVID-19. This is likely to create more strain on 
other health and social work services that the families we support rely on. We stand ready to adapt our services to be responsive 
to emerging needs, wherever we can.

The impact of COVID-19 on the future fundraising landscape is challenging to predict. Short to mid-term effects have included 
the cancellation of face-to-face events and activities, the temporary cessation of retail operations, and the pausing of some 
workplace-based fundraising. Over the longer term, the impact on the economy is likely to affect fundraising. The importance of 
technology in fundraising events has grown.

CHAS takes a proactive approach to influencing policy, and prior to the Scottish Parliament elections in May 2021, developed a 
manifesto setting out a range of policy priorities for this parliamentary term (2021-26). These priorities were directly informed 
by the views and experiences of the children and families we support.

Operational outlook
At the start of 2020/21 we agreed a new three-year strategic plan covering until the end of 2023. Structured around the themes 
of care, people, growth and partnership it sets the context for the development of our operational plans.

We anticipate that the ways we deliver care will continue to need to adapt. Some of the adaptions made in late March 2020 
remain, including the need for enhanced infection prevention and control measures, greater reliance on technology to facilitate 
remote and home working, and the delivery of virtual hospice services. 

We are applying the learnings from the pandemic and undergoing a service transformation and remobilisation programme 
for post-pandemic services. Partnership working with the health and social care sectors remains a key focus and we have 
consolidated our outreach leadership through the addition of our new Associate Director of Outreach Services post.

Having taken ownership of the Ardoch estate in October 2020, we took on the commercial operation of the estate in July 2021. 
Our intention is to use this estate to raise funds for our charitable activities through our new subsidiary company. We also intend 
to use this beautiful estate to provide direct benefit to families. 

Financial outlook
Despite success of the vaccination programme, the course of the pandemic and the associated financial outlook remain deeply 
uncertain. The provision of further Scottish Government support to the hospice sector early in 2021/22 enables us to move 
forward with greater confidence as our budgeted deficit for that year has been funded.

The UK Government Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme has provided an additional cushion against the financial impact of 
COVID-19, mitigating employment costs for colleagues who could not be deployed safely and productively at various stages 
of the pandemic. The furlough scheme is expected to close at the end of September 2021, and this may mark the end of such 
emergency government financial support.

Consequently, it is essential that our fundraising activities can adapt to a new normal as rapidly as possible. The ongoing 
emergence of new variants of COVID-19, the continuing potential for further lockdown measures and any long-term economic 
scarring inflicted by the pandemic, however, means that this progress will not necessarily be as fast or as linear as we would 
hope. Even with positive progress on the pandemic, some paused fundraising events will take time to rebuild and so we remain 
cautious about the time in which fundraising can realistically recover.

The risk that exists around income levels is accompanied by a degree of uncertainty concerning our future cost base. While 
initiatives stemming from our service transformation and remobilisation programme are always subject to rigorous financial 
review before implementation, further complexity is introduced by the enforced deferral of some costs that would have been 
incurred in 2020/21 had it not been for COVID-19 restrictions, such as expenditure related to our property maintenance 
programme.
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Our Context and Operating Environment

Risk Impact Response

Failure to deliver 
safe, effective and 
high quality care

May lead to harm 
of a child, reduced 
confidence in 
our services, 
reputational 
damage and 
potential litigation

•   Robust clinical and care governance structure in place from point of care 
delivery to CHAS Board

•   Strong infection prevention and control policies and procedures

•   Clear health and safety policies in place, such as fire prevention and 
legionella

•   All services inspected by Healthcare Improvement Scotland (HIS) or the 
Care Inspectorate to a determined frequency

•   Medical and nursing professional registration appraisal and revalidation 
processes fully supported

•   Adverse events reporting system and HIS Framework for Management 
of Adverse Events in place and followed robustly

Failure to sustain a 
culture of positive 
employee and 
volunteer wellbeing 
and engagement 

May lead to 
reduced morale, 
increased absence 
and a loss of key 
personnel

•   Visible and compassionate leadership where discussion of organisational 
vision, celebration of success and challenges is encouraged

•   Wellbeing strategy and employee resources in place

•   Leadership Development Programme in place for managers and Senior 
Leadership Team

•   Interim home working policy to support work-life balance to strengthen 
our employment brand and improve recruitment and retention

Failure to manage 
effectively the 
financial challenges 
in 2021/22 and 
beyond and to 
manage our cost 
base in line with 
income

May damage our 
overall financial 
strategy and 
restrict our ability 
to meet CHAS Plan 
objectives

•   Long-term financial ‘glide path’ in place to more accurately balance 
income and expenditure and eliminate deficits over the medium term

•   Reserves maintained at a minimum of 12 months operating costs

•   Revised fundraising strategy in place to support operations during and 
after the COVID-19 pandemic

•   Commitment from leadership to drive operational efficiencies where 
possible 

•   Regular review of financial performance at management, Senior 
Leadership Team and Board level

•   Comprehensive suite of financial controls including scheme of financial 
delegation, cashflow and investment management, and external audit

The Ardoch estate provides CHAS with exciting opportunities to fund charitable activities through its commercial operation in 
our new subsidiary company. The very generous gift of £1 million that accompanied the property provides a buffer to allow the 
business to become established as a boutique events venue and to withstand any further consequences the pandemic might 
have on the hospitality sector. The Directors will continue to pay careful regard to the financial performance of the subsidiary 
company to ensure that our charitable resources remain carefully and properly stewarded.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The Board is ultimately responsible for the management of risk and during the year introduced a new Risk Policy. During the 
process of developing the policy the Directors identified our six main strategic risks, which are summarised in the table below.

These principal risks and uncertainties are regularly assessed to ensure appropriate mitigation measures remain in place. The 
below risks are discussed by the Board and the Corporate Governance and Risk Committee at each of their respective meetings.

These measures are complemented by an inclusive approach to risk throughout the organisation, which encourages the Board, 
Senior Leadership Team and management to identify risks, consider escalation and review mitigations. This is further supported 
by a robust control environment at all levels.
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Our Context and Operating Environment

Risk Impact Response

Failure to exercise 
good governance 
or comply with 
relevant statutory 
and sector 
obligations 

May lead to 
a disruption 
to business, 
reputational 
damage and 
associated loss  
of income

•   Information Governance policy and infrastructure in place, including 
independent Virtual Data Protection Officer, security audits and regular 
validation of organisational resilience to cyber-attack

•   Health and Safety steering group in place with revised Health and Safety 
Policy introduced in 2020

•   Strong measures in place to ensure statutory compliance for CHAS 
premises, including asset register development, planned preventative 
maintenance and investment plans to address forthcoming lifecycle 
expiry

•   Financial governance measures including monthly account 
reconciliations, management of the purchasing system, central 
management of insurance coverage and statutory reporting obligations 

Failure to ensure 
good public 
understanding and 
support for the role 
of CHAS 

May damage 
stakeholder 
engagement, 
reduce statutory 
funding and 
diminish CHAS’s 
reputation as the 
sole children’s 
hospice provider in 
Scotland

•   Credible relationships maintained and extended at senior levels across 
the landscape in which we operate

•   Effective communications management across the following four 
key areas: the public and our supporters; children and families; other 
stakeholders; and staff and volunteers

•   Programme of government and parliamentary engagement in order to 
support the CHAS Manifesto and secure continued statutory funding

•   Proactive supporter marketing and communication to drive awareness 
and consideration to support CHAS

•   Media monitoring and crisis response process established

Failure to plan and 
respond effectively 
to changes in 
the external 
environment, 
in particular 
the COVID-19 
pandemic

May impede 
innovation and 
the delivery of the 
CHAS Plan

•   Clear and dynamic plan for care and operational delivery throughout all 
stages of the pandemic

•   Proactive monitoring and analysis of developments in the external 
landscape

•   Established Programme Board structure to support the delivery of the 
CHAS plan

•   Ongoing change programme in our Children and Families Team aligned 
with the ‘care’ theme from the CHAS Plan

•   Quarterly reporting of CHAS Plan progress to the Board through 
Balanced Scorecard reporting
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Directors of Children’s Hospices Across Scotland 
in Respect of the Annual Report and Accounts

The trustees (who are also directors of Children’s Hospices Across Scotland for the purposes of company law) are responsible 
for preparing the Trustees’ Report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the charitable company and the group and of the incoming resources and application of resources, including 
the income and expenditure, of the charitable company and the group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, 
the trustees are required to:
•   select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•   observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP (FRS 102);

•   make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•   state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained 
in the financial statements; and

•   prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue 
in business.

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the charitable company and the group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended). They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and the group 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

In so far as the trustees are aware:
•   there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company’s auditor is unaware; and

•   the trustees have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and 
to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
charitable company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the reparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Approval
The Board approved this annual report, which includes the Directors’ Report and Strategic Report, at its meeting on 16 August 2021.

By order of the Board
George M Reid, Chair
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustees and Members of Children’s Hospices 
Across Scotland

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Children’s Hospices Across Scotland (the ‘parent charitable company’) and  
its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2021 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Activities, the Company Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheets, the Cash Flow Statements and notes to the 
financial statements, including significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in  
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102,  
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:  
•   give a true and fair view of the state of the affairs of the group and the parent charitable company as at 31 March 2021 and 

of the group and parent charitable company’s incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and 
expenditure, for the year then ended;

•   have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

•   have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment 
(Scotland) Act 2005 and regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).  

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the group and parent charitable company in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group or the parent charitable company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a period of at least 12 months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of 
this report.

Other information
The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual 
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information; we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•   the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report which includes the Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report for the 

financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

•   the Trustees’ Annual Report which includes the Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report has been prepared in accordance 
with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent charitable company and their environment obtained in 
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Trustees’ Annual Report and Strategic Report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) require us to report to you if, in our opinion: 
•   proper and adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent charitable company, or returns adequate for our 

audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

•   the parent charitable company’s financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

•   certain disclosures of trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

•   we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of trustees 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities set out on page 24, the trustees (who are also the directors 
of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements 
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the group and the parent charitable company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the group or the parent charitable company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
We have been appointed as auditors under the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and under the Companies 
Act 2006 and report in accordance with regulations made under those Acts.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the group and parent financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with 
our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The specific 
procedures for this engagement and the extent to which these are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud are  
detailed below.

Identifying and assessing risks related to irregularities
We assessed the susceptibility of the group and parent charitable company’s financial statements to material misstatement and 
how fraud might occur, including through discussions with the trustees, discussions within our audit team planning meeting, 
updating our record of internal controls and ensuring these controls operated as intended. We evaluated possible incentives and 
opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements. We identified laws and regulations that are of significance 
in the context of the group and parent charitable company by discussions with trustees and updating our understanding of the 
sectors in which the group and parent charitable company operate. 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustees and Members of Children’s Hospices 
Across Scotland
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Laws and regulations of direct significance in the context of the group and parent charitable company include The Companies 
Act 2006, the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as 
amended) and guidance issued by the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator. 

Audit response to risks identified
We considered the extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our audit procedures on the related financial 
statement items including a review of financial statement disclosures. We reviewed the parent charitable company’s records 
of breaches of laws and regulations, minutes of meetings and correspondence with relevant authorities to identify potential 
material misstatements arising. We discussed the parent charitable company’s policies and procedures for compliance with laws 
and regulations with members of management responsible for compliance.

During the planning meeting with the audit team, the engagement partner drew attention to the key areas which might involve 
non-compliance with laws and regulations or fraud. We enquired of management whether they were aware of any instances 
of non-compliance with laws and regulations or knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud. We addressed the 
risk of fraud through management override of controls by testing the appropriateness of journal entries and identifying any 
significant transactions that were unusual or outside the normal course of business. We assessed whether judgements made 
in making accounting estimates gave rise to a possible indication of management bias. At the completion stage of the audit, 
the engagement partner’s review included ensuring that the team had approached their work with appropriate professional 
scepticism and thus the capacity to identify non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and 
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware 
of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through 
collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities is available on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at:  
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the parent charitable company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006, and to the parent charitable company’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with Regulation 10 of the 
Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the parent 
charitable company’s members and trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the parent 
charitable company, the parent charitable company’s members and trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Kenneth McDowell (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Saffery Champness LLP

Chartered Accountants 
Statutory Auditors 
Edinburgh Quay, 133 Fountainbridge, Edinburgh, EH3 9BA
19 August 2021  

Saffery Champness LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Trustees and Members of Children’s Hospices 
Across Scotland
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Note

Unrestricted 
Funds 
£000

Restricted 
Funds 
£000

Totals  
2021

£000

Totals 
2020
£000

Income:

Donations and legacies:
Donations 6,737 440 7,177 5,503
Legacies 1,259 188 1,447 2,179

Trading activities:
Shop sales and other trading 220 - 220 536

Income from investments:
Investment income 366 - 366 549
Interest receivable 51 - 51 52

Income from charitable activities:
Statutory funding and grant income 3 - 7,003 7,003 7,003
Other income 4 2,978 - 2,978 -

Total income 11,611 7,631 19,242 15,822

Expenditure:

Cost of raising funds:
Cost of generating voluntary income (3,102) - (3,102) (3,760)
Cost of goods sold and other trading costs (461) - (461) (654)
Investment management costs (72) - (72) (79)

Cost of charitable activities (7,126) (7,521) (14,647) (17,058)

Total expenditure 5 (10,761) (7,521) (18,282) (21,551)

Net income/(expenditure) on operating activities 7 850 110 960 (5,729)

Net gains/(losses) on investments - realised
- unrealised 9

249 
2,483

-
-

249 
2,483

(79)
(1,292)

Net income/(expenditure) 3,582 110 3,692 (7,100)

Other recognised (losses)/gains
Remeasurement (losses)/gains on defined  
benefit pension scheme

14 (7,271) - (7,271) 2,321

Net movement in funds (3,689) 110 (3,579) (4,779)

Reconciliation of funds
Funds brought forward 15 26,102 252 26,354 31,133
Transfers during year 15 - - - -

Funds carried forward 15 22,413 362 22,775 26,354

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. All income and expenditure derive 
from continuing activities.

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form part of these accounts.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities 
(incorporating an income and expenditure account)
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Scottish company number SC 136410
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Note

Unrestricted 
Funds 
£000

Restricted 
Funds 
£000

Totals  
2021

£000

Totals 
2020
£000

Income:

Donations and legacies:
Donations 6,737 440 7,177 5,503
Legacies 1,259 188 1,447 2,179

Income from investments:
Investment income 366 - 366 549
Interest receivable 51 - 51 52

Income from charitable activities:
Statutory funding and grant income 3 - 7,003 7,003 7,003
Other income 4 2,846 - 2,846 -

Total income 11,259 7,631 18,890 15,286

Expenditure:

Cost of raising funds:
Cost of generating voluntary income (3,102) - (3,102) (3,760)
Investment management costs (72) - (72) (79)

Cost of charitable activities (7,508) (7,521) (15,029) (17,058)

Total expenditure 5 (10,682) (7,521) (18,203) (20,897)

Net income/(expenditure) on operating activities 7 577 110 687 (5,611)

Net gains/(losses) on investments - realised
- unrealised 9

249 
2,483

-
-

249
2,483

(79)
(1,292)

Net income/(expenditure) 3,309 110 3,419 (6,982)

Other recognised (losses)/gains
Remeasurement (losses)/gains on defined  
benefit pension scheme

14 (7,271) - (7,271) 2,321

Net movement in funds (3,962) 110 (3,852) (4,661)

Reconciliation of funds
Funds brought forward 15 26,650 252 26,902 31,563
Transfers during year 15 - - - -

Funds carried forward 15 22,688 362 23,050 26,902

The Statement of Financial Activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year. All income and expenditure derive from 
continuing activities.

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form part of these accounts.

Company Statement of Financial Activities 
(incorporating an income and expenditure account)
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Scottish company number SC 136410
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                 Group             Company

Note
2021

£000
2020
£000

2021
£000

2020
£000

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 8 13,029 12,064 13,051 12,099
Investments 9 17,299 15,175 17,299 15,175

30,328 27,239 30,350 27,274

Current assets
Stock 2 - - -
Debtors 11 4,284 1,041 4,314 1,313
Cash at bank and in hand 8,724 6,435 8,669 6,421

13,010 7,476 12,983 7,734
Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year 12 (5,226) (1,850) (4,977) (1,611)

Net current assets 7,784 5,626 8,006 6,123

Provisions for liabilities 13 (273) (137) (242) (121)

Net assets excluding pension deficit 37,839 32,728 38,114 33,276

Defined benefit pension scheme deficit 14 (15,064) (6,374) (15,064) (6,374)

Net assets including pension deficit 22,775 26,354 23,050 26,902

The funds of the charity:

Restricted income funds 15 362 252 362 252

Unrestricted income funds

Fixed asset fund 13,029 12,064 13,051 12,099
Designated for future operational investment 5,164 9,500 5,164 9,500
General reserves 19,284 10,912 19,537 11,425
Unrestricted income funds excluding pension 
reserve 37,477 32,476 37,752 33,024

Pension reserve 14 (15,064) (6,374) (15,064) (6,374)

Total unrestricted funds 15 22,413 26,102 22,688 26,650

Total funds 15 22,775 26,354 23,050 26,902

Approved by the Directors on 16 August 2021.

George M Reid, Chair              Stephen Reid, Director

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form part of these accounts.

Balance Sheets 
as at 31 March 2021

Scottish company number SC 136410
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                  Group          Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (i) 3,040 (3,416) 2,986 (3,412)

Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Investment income 366 549 366 549

Interest received 11 75 11 75

Net cash inflow from returns on investments and  
servicing of finance

377 624 377 624

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (1,600) (809) (1,587) (809)

Proceeds of disposal of fixed assets 9 - 9 -

Investments purchased (2,128) (2,860) (2,128) (2,860)

Investments disposed of 2,591 3,246 2,591 3,246

Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,128) (423) (1,115) (423)

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (ii) 2,289 (3,215) 2,248 (3,211)

(i) Reconciliation of net expenditure to the net cash outflow from operating activities
                 Group            Company

2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000

Net income/(expenditure) 3,692 (7,100) 3,419 (6,982)
Depreciation charge 626 634 626 630
Pension deficit movement 8,690 (481) 8,690 (481)

Remeasurement (losses)/gains on defined benefit pension  
scheme

(7,271) 2,321 (7,271) 2,321

Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets - 6 - 6
Net (gains)/losses on investments (2,732) 1,371 (2,732) 1,371
Interest receivable and investment income (417) (601) (417) (601)
(Increase)/decrease in stock (2) 1 - -
Increase in debtors (3,203) (471) (2,961) (335)
Increase in creditors 3,657 904 3,632 659

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities 3,040 (3,416) 2,986 (3,412)

(ii) Analysis of net funds
                  Group          Company

2021 2020 2021 2020
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cash balances at beginning of year 6,435 9,650 6,421 9,632
Increase/(decrease) in the year 2,289 (3,215) 2,248 (3,211)

Cash balances at end of year 8,724 6,435 8,669 6,421

The notes on pages 32 to 55 form part of these accounts.

Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2021

Scottish company number SC 136410
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1  Accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material to the 
accounts.

(a) Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, with the exception of investments which are included 
at market value. The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Charities SORP 
(FRS 102) Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice effective 1 January 2019.

The statement of financial activities (‘SOFA’) and balance sheet consolidate the accounts of Children's Hospices Across 
Scotland (‘the Charity’) and its subsidiary undertakings. The results of the subsidiary are consolidated on a line by line basis.

The Charity has availed itself of the provisions of Companies Act 2006 and adapted the statutory formats to reflect the 
special nature of the Charity’s activities.

The accounts are prepared in Sterling, which is the functional currency of the Charity. Monetary amounts in these accounts 
are rounded to the nearest £1,000.

(b) Going concern

The trustees are of the opinion that the group and parent charitable company can continue to meet their obligations as they 
fall due. The charitable company has significant reserves and regular income generated from activities and specific grants to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
 
Having considered the matters above and with particular reference to the financial impact of the coronavirus crisis, the  
trustees are of the opinion that the group and parent charitable company will have sufficient resources to continue to operate 
and meet debts as they fall due for the foreseeable future. The financial statements have therefore been drawn up on a going 
concern basis.

(c) Company status

The Charity is a company limited by guarantee and is registered as a Scottish charity with the Office of the Scottish Charity 
Regulator under number SC019724. The Charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102.

The Charity is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010 and therefore it meets the 
definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes Accordingly, the Charity is potentially exempt from 
taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 Corporation Tax Act 
2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied 
exclusively to charitable purposes.

(d) Fund accounting

Unrestricted funds are either general or designated. General funds are available for use at the discretion of the Directors in 
furtherance of the general objectives of the Charity and which have not been designated for another purpose. Designated 
funds are those set aside for particular purposes. The aim and use of each designated fund is set out in note 15.

Restricted funds are those to be used in accordance with instructions declared by donors or as a result of a specific appeal 
by the Charity. The aim and use of each restricted fund is set out in the notes to the accounts where material. Transfers are 
made between funds on a periodic basis.

Notes to the Accounts
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(e) Income

All income is included in the SOFA when the Charity is legally entitled to that income, income is probable and the amount 
can be quantified with reasonable accuracy. Legacy income is recognised only when there is sufficient evidence in each 
individual case of the probability that the income will be received and the value of this income can be measured with 
sufficient reliability.

Income from shop sales is recognised at the point of sale, which is generally on the receipt of cash. Any distributable annual 
profits earned by the subsidiary company are paid to the Charity by deed of covenant.

(f) Gifts in kind

Assets given for use by the Charity are included in income when receivable at a reasonable estimate of their value to the 
Charity. No monetary value is attributed to human resource secondments to the Charity or to services donated by volunteers 

(g) Expenditure

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all costs related 
to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings, they have been allocated to activities on a 
basis consistent with use of the resources.

The cost of raising funds includes the expenditure incurred in generating voluntary income, the cost of goods sold and other 
trading costs and investment management costs. These costs are regarded as necessary to generate funds that are needed 
to finance charitable activities. The cost of charitable activities relates to expenditure that enables the Charity to meet its 
charitable aims and objectives. 

Governance costs are associated with the strategic planning and management of the Charity and reflect an element of the 
costs of the office of the Chief Executive and other key management personnel. They also include professional advice for 
the Directors, audit fees and Directors’ expenses. Support costs are those which enable charitable activities and fundraising 
to be undertaken. Note 5 gives further information on what support costs include and the basis of apportionment to cost 
categories.

(h) Value Added Tax

The Charity and subsidiary company is registered as a group for Value Added Tax purposes and accordingly expenditure for 
the group excludes VAT where applicable.

(i) Fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets with a cost of £2,000 or greater are capitalised at cost and are depreciated in equal annual instalments 
over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Freehold land and buildings 50 years
Short leasehold  5 years or period of lease if shorter
Motor vehicles  3 years
Hospice equipment – Kitchen 5 years
 – Care 7 years
Computer equipment 3 years
Furniture and fittings 10 years

(j) Investments

Fixed asset investments are stated at stock market valuation. Unrealised gains and losses represent the difference between 
the market value at the beginning and end of the financial year. Disposals are either measured at cost (if bought in the year) 
or at market value at the beginning of the financial year if bought in a prior year. Realised gains and losses represent the 
difference between the proceeds and either the cost or the market value at the beginning of the financial year depending on 
when the investments were bought.

Notes to the Accounts
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(k) Stock

Stocks of goods purchased for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Stocks of donated assets are not 
valued for accounting purposes as it is impractical to measure their fair value.

(l) Operating lease rental costs and leasehold dilapidations

The Charity occupies two properties and the subsidiary company occupies a further four properties under operating leases. 
Rental costs payable in respect of these operating leases are charged in the statement of financial activities for the period to 
which they relate.

A dilapidations provision is recognised when there is future obligation relating to the maintenance of leasehold properties. 
The provision is based on management’s best estimate of the obligation which forms part of the Group’s unavoidable cost 
of meeting its obligations under the lease contracts and over the lease term. Key uncertainties are the estimates of amounts 
due.

(m) Pension schemes

Lothian Pension Fund

The Charity participates in the Lothian Pension Fund, a defined benefit pension scheme open to all eligible employees. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Charity and its subsidiary companies.

Pension scheme assets are measured using market values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using a projected unit 
credit method and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency 
to the liability.

The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is considered recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full. The movement 
in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between total expenditure and remeasurement gains and losses on the defined benefit 
pension scheme in the statement of financial activities.

National Health Service Superannuation Scheme (Scotland)

The National Health Service Superannuation Scheme (Scotland) is a multi-employer scheme where the share of the assets 
and liabilities applicable to each employer is not identified. The Charity therefore accounts for its pension costs to this 
scheme on a defined contribution basis as permitted by FRS 102.

2 Critical judgements and estimates

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees make estimates and assumptions which affect the reported results, 
financial position and disclosure of contingencies. Use of available information and application of judgement are inherent 
in the formation of the estimates, together with past experience and expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates. This section discusses the 
principal areas where the measurement of items is strongly influenced by the assumptions and estimates used.

(a) Defined benefit pension scheme deficit

The valuation of the defined benefit pension scheme deficit is based on several major assumptions as set out in note 14. 
As with any set of assumptions used in such a valuation there are inherent risks and uncertainties.

The carrying value of the defined benefit pension scheme deficit is calculated on the basis of estimates of the rates of future 
salary, pensions in payment and deferred pension increases, as well as estimated life expectancy of current and future 
pensioners. Additionally the valuation is sensitive to the assumed discount rate applied to scheme liabilities. The discount 
rate is set with reference to yields on high quality corporate bonds and so the valuation may be subject to significant change 
owing to relative changes in equity and bond markets at the financial year-end.

The valuation of the pension deficit assumes that the Charity will continue to participate in the Lothian Pension Fund. The 
valuation would be subject to change in the event of curtailment, settlement or discontinuance in the Charity’s participation.

Notes to the Accounts
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(b) Investment valuation

Fixed asset investments are stated at stock market valuation as at the financial year-end. As no investment is permitted in 
investments that are not readily realisable the trustees believe this to be an appropriate approach. As with most investments 
there is the risk that stock market valuation may change significantly at any time. 

(c) Valuation of freehold land and buildings

The valuation of freehold land and buildings is based on historic cost which may vary to their market value or reinstatement 
cost. Freehold land and buildings have been assigned an economic life of 50 years. The expected useful life of freehold 
land and buildings may change under the influence of development of changes in paediatric palliative care and market 
circumstances.

(d) Recognition of legacy income

Legacy income is recognised only when there is sufficient evidence in each individual case of the probability that the income 
will be received and the value of this income can be measured with sufficient reliability. While this income is subject to 
ongoing review until these accounts are approved by the Directors, there remains a risk that legacy income relating to the 
year ended 31 March 2021 may come to light after this date and therefore be omitted from these accounts.

(e) Allocation of support costs

Support costs are allocated to the cost of charitable activities, cost of generating voluntary income and cost of goods sold 
and other trading costs on the basis of staff numbers as at the financial year-end. The trustees believe this approach to be 
appropriate as the cost of most support functions (finance, IT, human resources, property and learning) is predominantly 
influenced by the number of staff each function is serving. 

(f) Funds designated for future operational investment

As set out in note 15, funds have been ring fenced for future operational and capital investment as we continue to pursue our 
strategic aim of meeting the needs of all children and families in Scotland who need our services.

CHAS continues to expand its services and the funds designated for future operational investment are intended to reflect 
expected funding deficits over the coming years. In addition to this, our property estate must continue to meet the needs of 
CHAS’s operation to enable the achievement of our strategic objectives. With this in mind projected capital expenditure is 
included alongside anticipated revenue deficits in the designated reserve of £5.2 million. 
 
The Directors understand future financial impacts of COVID-19 may still have a significant bearing on the availability of 
funds to designate in this manner in future years.
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3    Income

Group and Company
2021 2020

£000 £000
Statutory funding and grant income
Scottish Local Authorities – for operation of Rachel House and Robin House 680 680
NHS Scotland (total received £6,187,000; £275,000 towards Diana Children’s Nurses) 5,912 5,912
Scottish Government:

- for Diana Children’s Nurses 275 275
- for infrastructure and services 136 136

7,003 7,003

Group
2021 2020

£000 £000
Unrestricted Funds 
COVID-19 Emergency Funding: Scottish Government 1,287 -
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 1,404 -
COVID-19 Grants Received: Scottish Local Authorities 95 -
Funding Health and Social Staff: Scottish Government 178 -
Ardoch Rental Income 14 -

2,978 -

Company
2021 2020

£000 £000
Unrestricted Funds 
COVID-19 Emergency Funding: Scottish Government 1,287 -
Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 1,367 -
Funding Health and Social Staff: Scottish Government 178 -
Ardoch Rental Income 14 -

2,846 -

Notes to the Accounts
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5  Expenditure 

Group Direct  
costs

Governance  
costs

Support  
costs Total 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost of raising funds
Cost of generating voluntary income 2,524 56 522 3,102 3,760
Cost of goods sold and other trading costs:

-      CHAS Trading Limited 311 15 79 405 654
-      Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited 56 - - 56 -

Investment management costs 72 - - 72 79

Cost of charitable activities 11,006 350 3,291 14,647 17,058

13,969 421 3,892 18,282 21,551

2020 16,915 564 4,072 21,551

Company Direct  
costs

Governance  
costs

Support  
costs Total 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost of raising funds
Cost of generating voluntary income 2,524 56 522 3,102 3,760
Investment management costs 72 - - 72 79

Cost of charitable activities 11,388 350 3,291 15,029 17,058

13,984 406 3,813 18,203 20,897

2020 16,348 560 3,989 20,897

The activities underlying each of the above cost categories are:

Cost of generating voluntary income - raising the income needed to support the Charity’s activities.

Cost of goods sold and other trading costs - operating charity shops and participating in a clothes collection partnership 
to create additional income needed to support the Charity’s activities. In addition, this includes charges in respect of 
estimated dilapidation costs on operating leases.

Cost of charitable activities - providing children’s hospice services and supporting the whole family throughout Scotland.

Governance costs include expenditure incurred in strategic planning and management as well as the costs of professional 
advice for the Directors’ audit fees and Directors’ expenses.

Notes to the Accounts
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Support costs reflect the growth and maintenance of the infrastructure required, including the staff teams, to support 
the delivery of the above activities. As noted in the Financial Review, significant investment has been made to ensure the 
support functions are appropriately resourced to meet future needs, in particular the digitalisation programme across 
CHAS. Support costs comprise finance £603,000 (2020: £633,000), communications, advocacy and public relations 
£498,000 (2020: £566,000), IT £575,000 (2020: £609,000), information management £217,000 (2020: nil) human 
resources £388,000 (2020: £701,000), property £557,000 (2020: £860,000), executive £74,000 (2020: £270,000), 
learning £161,000 (2020: £264,000) and volunteering £29,000 (2020: £169,000).

Both governance costs and support costs have been apportioned to the above activities on the basis of staff numbers, 
except for governance costs relating to the trading subsidiary which have been directly charged to the cost of the goods 
sold and other trading costs.

Property includes a charge of £136,000 (2020: £397,000), which has been made this year for estimated dilapidation costs 
on the leased properties across our estate.

CHAS was severely impacted by COVID-19 restrictions in the year and this is reflected in the significant reduction in 
support costs in some areas. 

The reduction in executive costs reflect a reduction in payroll charges borne by this area. 

Human Resources has seen a significant reduction in staffing and other operating costs for this year, principally due to 
significantly reduced recruitment activity.

Volunteering has seen a reduction in costs due to maternity leave, increased recharging to other departments and as a 
result of pandemic-related limitations on volunteering activities.

6  Staff costs
2021

£000
2020
£000

Salaries 10,179 10,619
Social security costs 1,008 1,055
Pensions 3,196 3,588

14,383 15,262

 
The number of employees whose emoluments as defined for taxation purposes amounted to over £60,000 in the year was 
as follows:

2021 2020

£70,001 - £80,000 2 2
£80,001 - £90,000 1 3
£90,001 - £100,000 1 -
£120,001 - £130,000 - 2
£130,001 - £140,000 1 1

Of these, one was medical staff remunerated on the equivalent of NHS salary scales and pension arrangements. 

For the above employees, £81,261 in total (2020: £123,486) was paid to the National Health Service Superannuation 
Scheme for Scotland and Lothian Pension Fund.

By the end of the year the number of employees was 320 (2020: 337). In addition, there were 750 volunteers who were not 
remunerated but can claim expenses. The average number of employees was 325, of whom 87 (57 full-time equivalent) 
were part-time.

The charity considers that its key management personnel comprise the Senior Leadership Team. Total remuneration of 
key management personnel for the year was £638,840 (2020: £848,209).

No remuneration was paid to the Directors in respect of their services to the Charity (2020: nil). No travel expenses were 
paid to Directors (2020: £790 to one Director).

Ex gratia payments totalling £13,991 were paid to three employees during the financial year.

Notes to the Accounts
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7  Net expenditure on operating activities

 This is stated after charging:
2021

£000
2020
£000

Auditor’s remuneration: 
- Audit of these financial statements 16 11
Amounts receivable by auditor and associates in respect of: 
- Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 4 3
Indemnity insurance for Directors 3 1
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings 183 199

Notes to the Accounts
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8  Tangible fixed assets

Group Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£000

Investment 
Property 

£000

Short 
leasehold 

£000

Motor 
vehicles 

£000

Hospice 
equipment 

£000

Computer 
equipment 

£000

Furniture 
and fittings 

£000
Total  

£000

Cost / Valuation as 
at 1 April 2020

 
15,520

 
-

 
235

 
424

 
702

 
904

 
1,025

 
18,810

Additions 6 1,200 - - 336 17 41 1,600
Disposals (6) - (3) - - - - (9)

Cost / Valuation as 
at 31 March 2021

15,520 1,200 232 424 1,038 921 1,066 20,401

Accumulated 
depreciation  
as at 1 April 2020 4,675 - 215 276 480 723 377 6,746

Charge for year 308 - 5 55 62 101 95 626
Disposals - - - - - - - -

Accumulated 
depreciation  
as at 31 March 2021 4,983 - 220 331 542 824 472 7,372

Net book value at  
31 March 2021 10,537 1,200 12 93 496 97 594 13,029

Net book value at  
31 March 2020 10,845 - 20 148 222 181 648 12,064

The purposes for which the tangible fixed assets held for charity use at 31 March 2021 were as follows:

Group Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£000

Investment 
Property 

£000

Short 
leasehold 

£000

Motor 
vehicles 

£000

Hospice 
equipment 

£000

Computer 
equipment 

£000

Furniture 
and fittings 

£000
Total  

£000
Purpose:

Hospice services 10,314 - - 93 496 9 563 11,475
Fundraising, 
management and 
administration 223 1,200 12 - - 88 31 1,554

10,537 1,200 12 93 496 97 594 13,029

Notes to the Accounts
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8  Tangible fixed assets

Group Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£000

Investment 
Property 

£000

Short 
leasehold 

£000

Motor 
vehicles 

£000

Hospice 
equipment 

£000

Computer 
equipment 

£000

Furniture 
and fittings 

£000
Total  

£000

Cost / Valuation as 
at 1 April 2020

 
15,520

 
-

 
235

 
424

 
702

 
904

 
1,025

 
18,810

Additions 6 1,200 - - 336 17 41 1,600
Disposals (6) - (3) - - - - (9)

Cost / Valuation as 
at 31 March 2021

15,520 1,200 232 424 1,038 921 1,066 20,401

Accumulated 
depreciation  
as at 1 April 2020 4,675 - 215 276 480 723 377 6,746

Charge for year 308 - 5 55 62 101 95 626
Disposals - - - - - - - -

Accumulated 
depreciation  
as at 31 March 2021 4,983 - 220 331 542 824 472 7,372

Net book value at  
31 March 2021 10,537 1,200 12 93 496 97 594 13,029

Net book value at  
31 March 2020 10,845 - 20 148 222 181 648 12,064

The purposes for which the tangible fixed assets held for charity use at 31 March 2021 were as follows:

Group Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£000

Investment 
Property 

£000

Short 
leasehold 

£000

Motor 
vehicles 

£000

Hospice 
equipment 

£000

Computer 
equipment 

£000

Furniture 
and fittings 

£000
Total  

£000
Purpose:

Hospice services 10,314 - - 93 496 9 563 11,475
Fundraising, 
management and 
administration 223 1,200 12 - - 88 31 1,554

10,537 1,200 12 93 496 97 594 13,029

Company Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£000

Investment 
Property 

£000

Short 
leasehold 

£000

Motor 
vehicles 

£000

Hospice 
equipment 

£000

Computer 
equipment 

£000

Furniture 
and fittings 

£000
Total  

£000

Cost / Valuation as 
at 1 April 2020

 
15,553

 
-

 
188

 
409

 
702

 
873

 
1,020

 
18,745

Additions 6 1,200 - - 336 4 41 1,587
Disposals (6) - (3) - - - - (9)

Cost / Valuation as 
at 31 March 2021

15,553 1,200 185 409 1,038 877 1,061 20,323

Accumulated 
depreciation  
as at 1 April 2020 4,673 - 168 261 480 692 372 6,646

Charge for year 308 - 5 55 62 101 95 626
Disposals - - - - - - - -

Accumulated 
depreciation  
as at 31 March 2021 4,981 - 173 316 542 793 467 7,272

Net book value at  
31 March 2021 10,572 1,200 12 93 496 84 594 13,051

Net book value at  
31 March 2020 10,880 - 20 148 222 181 648 12,099

The purposes for which the tangible fixed assets held for charity use at 31 March 2021 were as follows:

Company Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£000

Investment 
Property 

£000

Short 
leasehold 

£000

Motor 
vehicles 

£000

Hospice 
equipment 

£000

Computer 
equipment 

£000

Furniture 
and fittings 

£000
Total  

£000
Purpose:

Hospice services 10,360 - - 93 496 8 564 11,521
Fundraising, 
management and 
administration 212 1,200 12 - - 76 30 1,530

10,572 1,200 12 93 496 84 594 13,051

8  Tangible fixed assets (continued)
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9  Fixed asset investments

Group and Company 2021
£000

2020
£000

Quoted investments at market value at beginning of year 15,175 16,787
Additions during year 1,858 3,130
Disposals during year (2,217) (3,450)

14,816 16,467

Net unrealised gains/(losses) 2,483 (1,292)

Market value at end of year 17,299 15,175

Historical cost at end of year 13,151 13,558

Fixed asset investments are represented by: £000
2021

% £000
2020

%

UK equities 5,087 29.4 4,372 28.8
Investment and unit trusts 7,799 45.1 6,684 44.0
Overseas equities 2,038 11.8 1,768 11.7

14,924 86.3 12,824 84.5

Fixed interest securities 1,564 9.0 1,574 10.4
UK debentures and loan stocks 811 4.7 777 5.1

Total managed portfolio 17,299 100.0 15,175 100.0

There are no individual investments which represent more than 5% of the Charity’s investments.

Notes to the Accounts
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10  Subsidiary Companies

(a) CHAS Trading Limited

CHAS Trading Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, operates charity shops as well as participating in a clothes collection 
partnership. A summary of its results is shown below and audited financial statements will be filed with the Registrar of 
Companies. The Registered Office of CHAS Trading Limited is the same as the Charity.

A Deed of Covenant exists by which all distributable annual profits generated by CHAS Trading Limited are covenanted to 
the Charity. As CHAS Trading Limited reported a loss for the year ended 31 March 2021, there was no profit covenanted to 
the Charity (2020: nil). The reported loss for the year is after deduction of support costs from CHAS (shown in note 5) and 
a provision for dilapidation costs on operating leases.

(Loss)
Income 

£000
Expenditure 

£000
2021 

£000
2020  
£000

Charity shops 352 (405) (53) (118)

The net assets of CHAS Trading Limited at 31 March 2021 were:
£000

Fixed assets 24

Stocks 2
Debtors 27
Cash at bank 54

Total current assets 83

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (632)

Net current liabilities (549)

Provision for liabilities (31)

Net liabilities (556)

Included in debtors is an amount of £789 (2020: £2,000) due from the Charity. In creditors there is an amount of 
£382,654 (2020: £291,000) due to the Charity.

Notes to the Accounts
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Notes to the Accounts

10  Subsidiary Companies (continued)

(b) Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited

Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary, will operate the commercial activities at the Ardoch estate, 
facilitating special events, meetings and accommodation. A summary of its results as at 31 March 2021 are shown below. 
The company which was incorporated on 20 January 2021, will formally commence trading from 1 July 2021 and will file 
its first set of audited financial statements with the Registrar of Companies for the 15 month period ending 31 March 2022. 
The Registered Office of Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited is the same as the Charity. 

(Loss)/profit
Income 

£000
Expenditure 

£000
2021 

£000
2020  
£000

Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited - 56 (56) -

The net assets of Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited at 31 March 2021 were:
£000

Debtors -

Total current assets -

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year (56)

Net Liabilities (56)

Included in creditors is an amount of £55,133 (2020: nil) due to the Charity.

   
11  Debtors

Group  
2021  

£000

Group  
2020  
£000

Company 
2021 

£000

Company 
2020 
£000

Taxation refunds 14 35 14 35
VAT 143 237 141 237
Prepayments 192 175 180 163
Sundry debtors 3,734 87 3,722 80
Legacies receivable 201 507 201 507
Amounts due from CHAS Trading Limited  
and Ardoch Loch Lomond Limited (note 10) - - 438 291
Provision for doubtful debt - - (382) -

4,284 1,041 4,314 1,313
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12  Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group  
2021  

£000

Group  
2020  
£000

Company 
2021 

£000

Company 
2020 
£000

Accruals and sundry creditors 1,550 1,347 1,302 1,107
VAT and NI/PAYE payable 440 503 438 502
Amounts due to CHAS Trading Limited (note 10) - - 1 2
Deferred income - Scottish Government 3,236 - 3,236 -

5,226 1,850 4,977 1,611

13  Provisions for Liabilities

Group  
2021  

£000

Group  
2020  
£000

Company 
2021 

£000

Company 
2020 
£000

Dilapidations 273 137 242 121

273 137 242 121

Movements on dilapidations provision:
Group 
2021  

£000

Company 
2021 

 £000

As at 1 April 2020 137 121
Additional provisions in the year 136 121
Utilisation of provision (note 12) - -

As at 31 March 2021 273 242

Dilapidations provision    

The Group leases a number of properties whose lease terms expire between 2022 and 2028.  

During August 2019, an assessment of the expected dilapidation costs for these properties was prepared by an 
independent third party. The Group has used this information to establish the fair value of the expected costs as 
at 31 March 2021 and has recognised the provision above for long term lease obligations and amounts within other 
creditors (note 12) for leases expiring in the coming 12 months.

Notes to the Accounts
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14  Pension schemes

Group and Company

Lothian Pension Fund

The Charity participates in the Lothian Pension Fund, a pension scheme providing benefits based on career average 
pensionable pay.

The information disclosed below is in respect of the Charity’s share of the assets and liabilities of the whole scheme 
under an agreed policy throughout the years shown. The assumptions used by the Charity, as disclosed below, were 
recommended by independent actuaries for application, approved by Lothian Pension Fund and adopted by the Directors. 

2021  
£000

2020  
£000

Fair value of assets attributed to the Charity 27,582 22,580
Present value of defined benefit obligation attributed to the Charity (42,646) (28,954)

Net deficit recognised as a liability in the balance sheet (15,064) (6,374)

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation attributed to the Charity are as follows:

2021  
£000

2020  
£000

Opening defined benefit obligation attributed to the Charity 28,954 29,060
Current service cost 2,350 2,692
Interest cost 694 763
Contributions paid by members 427 424
Estimated benefits paid (287) (185)

Expected closing position 32,138 32,754
Remeasurement losses/(gains) 10,508 (3,800)

42,646 28,954
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14  Pension schemes (continued)

 Changes in the fair value of assets attributed to the Charity are as follows:
2021 

£000
2020 
£000

Opening fair value of assets attributed to the Charity 22,580 22,205
Interest income on assets attributed to the Charity 533 571
Contributions paid by members 427 424
Contributions paid by the Charity 1,092 1,044
Estimated benefits paid (287) (185)

Expected closing position 24,345 24,059
Remeasurement gains/(losses) 3,237 (1,479)

Closing fair value of assets attributed to the Charity 27,582 22,580

The amounts recognised in expenditure in the statement of financial activities are as follows:
2021 

£000
2020 
£000

Current service cost 2,350 2,692
Interest cost 161 192

2,511 2,884

The amounts recognised in the other recognised gains and losses section of the statement of financial activities are as 
follows:

2021 
£000

2020 
£000

Changes in financial assumptions (10,558) 3,661
Changes in demographic assumptions 1,654 -
Other experience adjustments (1,588) 139

Actuarial (losses)/gains (10,492) 3,800

Return on assets attributed to the Charity excluding interest income 3,221 (1,479)

Remeasurement (losses)/gains (7,271) 2,321

The fair value of the scheme’s assets attributed to the Charity, which are not intended to be realised in the short term and 
may be subject to significant change before they are realised, were:

2021 
£000

2020 
£000

Equities 20,410 16,935
Bonds 3,310 2,484
Property 1,931 1,806
Cash 1,931 1,355

Fair value of assets attributed to the Charity 27,582 22,580

Notes to the Accounts
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Notes to the Accounts

14  Pension schemes (continued)

The major assumptions used in this valuation were:
2021 2020 

Rate of increase in salaries 3.30% 3.40%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment and deferred pensions 2.80% 1.80%
Discount rate applied to scheme liabilities 2.05% 2.30%

Life expectancy is based on the Lothian Pension Fund Vita Curves with improvements in line with the CMI2012 model 
assuming current rates of improvement have peaked and will converge to a long term rate of 1.25% per annum and is 
summarised below:

Male Female
Current pensioners 20.5 years 23.3 years
Future pensioners 21.9 years 25.2 years

The sensitivities regarding the major assumptions used to measure the defined benefit obligation attributed to the Charity 
are set out below:

Approximate 
increase to 
obligation

Approximate 
monetary 

amount 
£000

0.5% decrease in real discount rate 14% 5,882
0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 2% 663
0.5% increase in the pension increase rate 12% 5,097

It is estimated that the Charity will contribute £1,094,000 to this defined benefit scheme in the year ending 31 March 2022. 
As at 31 March 2021, 227 staff were members of the scheme (2020: 238).

National Health Service Superannuation Scheme (Scotland) 

The NHS Pension Scheme (Scotland) (formerly known as the National Health Superannuation Scheme (Scotland)) is 
a multi-employer scheme where the share of the assets and liabilities applicable to each employer is not identified. The 
Charity will therefore account for its pension costs to this scheme on a defined contribution basis as permitted by Financial 
Reporting Standard 102. The Government Actuary’s Department assessed the scheme deficit at 31 March 2020 at  
£76.6 billion. As a result of this deficit, contributions are likely to remain in excess of current service costs.

In the year ended 31 March 2021, normal employer contributions of £686,000 were payable to the NHS Pension  
Scheme (Scotland) (2020: £702,000) at the rate of 20.9% of pensionable earnings (2020: 20.9%). As at 31 March 2021, 
88 staff were members of the scheme (2020: 93) paying between 5.8% and 14.7% of pensionable earnings. The Scottish 
Government has refunded the Charity employer contributions totalling £187,000 (2020: £187,000), following the increase 
in employer contributions from the previous rate of 14.9% to 20.9% which took effect from 1 April 2019.
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15  Statement of funds

Group
As at 1  

April 2020
£000

Income 
£000

Expenditure 
£000

Other gains 
and losses 

£000
Transfers 

£000

As at 31 
March 

2021
£000

Restricted income funds
Rachel House 137 195 (249) - - 83
Robin House 51 276 (226) - - 101
Service Development 37 - - - - 37
CHAS at Home 27 57 (8) - - 76
The National Lottery Community Fund - 65 - - - 65
Virtual Children’s Hospice - 36 (36) - - -
Scottish Government - 411 (411) - - -
Scottish NHS Boards - 5,912 (5,912) - - -
Scottish Local Authorities - 679 (679) - - -

Total restricted income funds 252 7,631 (7,521) - - 362

Unrestricted income funds
Designated funds:

Fixed asset fund 12,064 - - - 965 13,029

Designated for future  
operational investment 9,500 - - 2,732 (7,068) 5,164

Pension reserve (6,374) - - (7,271) (1,419) (15,064)

General reserve 10,912 11,611 (10,761) - 7,522 19,284

Total unrestricted income funds 26,102 11,611 (10,761) (4,539) - 22,413

Total funds 26,354 19,242 (18,282) (4,539) - 22,775

Notes to the AccountsNotes to the Accounts
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15  Statement of funds (continued)

Group
As at 1  

April 2019
£000

Income 
£000

Expenditure 
£000

Other gains 
and losses 

£000
Transfers 

£000

As at 31 
March 
2020
£000

Restricted income funds
Rachel House 152 673 (688) - - 137
The National Lottery Community Fund 88 - (88) - - -
Robin House 87 387 (423) - - 51
Scottish Government 83 410 (493) - - -
Service Development 66 8 (37) - - 37
CHAS at Home 27 38 (38) - - 27
Scottish NHS Boards - 5,912 (5,912) - - -
Scottish Local Authorities - 680 (680) - - -

Total restricted income funds 503 8,108 (8,359) - - 252

Unrestricted income funds
Designated funds:

Fixed asset fund 11,895 - - - 169 12,064

Designated for future  
operational investment 14,341 - - (1,371) (3,470) 9,500

Pension reserve (6,855) - - 2,321 (1,840) (6,374)

General reserve 11,249 7,714 (13,192) - 5,141 10,912

Total unrestricted income funds 30,630 7,714 (13,192) 950 - 26,102

Total funds 31,133 15,822 (21,551) 950 - 26,354
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15  Statement of funds (continued)

Company As at 1  
April 

2020
£000

Income 
£000

Expenditure 
£000

Other gains  
and losses 

£000
Transfers 

£000

As at 31 
March 

2021
£000

Restricted income funds
Rachel House 137 195 (249) - - 83
Robin House 51 276 (226) - - 101
Service Development 37 - - - - 37
CHAS at Home 27 57 (8) - - 76
The National Lottery Community Fund - 65 - - - 65
Virtual Children’s Hospice - 36 (36) - - -
Scottish Government - 411 (411) - - -
Scottish NHS Boards - 5,912 (5,912) - - -
Scottish Local Authorities - 679 (679) - - -

Total restricted income funds 252 7,631 (7,521) - - 362

Unrestricted income funds
Designated funds:

Fixed asset fund 12,099 - - - 952 13,051

Designated for future  
operational investment 9,500 - - 2,732 (7,068) 5,164

Pension reserve (6,374) - - (7,271) (1,419) (15,064)

General reserve 11,425 11,259 (10,682) - 7,535 19,537

Total unrestricted income funds 26,650 11,259 (10,682) (4,539) - 22,688

Total funds 26,902 18,890 (18,203) (4,539) - 23,050

Notes to the Accounts
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15  Statement of funds (continued)

Company
As at 1  

April 2019
£000

Income 
£000

Expenditure 
£000

Other gains 
and losses 

£000
Transfers 

£000

As at 31 
March 
2020
£000

Restricted income funds
Rachel House 152 673 (688) - - 137
The National Lottery Community Fund 88 - (88) - - -
Robin House 87 387 (423) - - 51
Scottish Government 83 410 (493) - - -
Service Development 66 8 (37) - - 37
CHAS at Home 27 38 (38) - - 27
Scottish NHS Boards - 5,912 (5,912) - - -
Scottish Local Authorities - 680 (680) - - -

Total restricted income funds 503 8,108 (8,359) - - 252

Unrestricted income funds
Designated funds:

Fixed asset fund 11,926 - - - 173 12,099

Designated for future  
operational investment 14,341 - - (1,371) (3,470) 9,500

Pension reserve (6,855) - - 2,321 (1,840) (6,374)

General reserve 11,648 7,178 (12,538) - 5,137 11,425

Total unrestricted income funds 31,060 7,178 (12,538) 950 - 26,650

Total funds 31,563 15,286 (20,897) 950 - 26,902

Restricted income received in the year relates to trust funding, legacies, donations and statutory funding for particular 
projects and areas of care and support for children and families. The funds held at 31 March 2021 relate to specific 
expenditure yet to be incurred. Restricted funds from the Scottish Government support Diana Children’s Nurses while a 
number of trusts, foundations and companies have provided funds to support staff, staff training and equipment for CHAS 
at Home and the operation and staffing of both Rachel House and Robin House.

Funding received from the Scottish NHS Boards and Scottish Local Authorities is not to be utilised for fundraising costs 
(including events), trading and investment management fees. Pharmaceutical supplies are also not covered as these are 
usually delivered free of charge from local NHS boards. While training and education is within the remit of the funding any 
income derived from these activities should be netted off and only net costs of education and training will be provided for.

Funds designated for future operational investment represents funds that have been ring fenced to allow CHAS to reach 
its strategic aim to meet the needs of all children and families in Scotland requiring palliative care. CHAS has been 
expanding its services and staffing and this fund will cover the expected funding deficits in the coming years. The general 
reserve includes any free funds of the Charity to the extent that they have not been designated for particular purposes. 
The Directors anticipate that the general reserve will continue to decrease in the foreseeable future owing to the forecast 
deficits. Moreover this reserve is at risk from the financial effects of COVID-19 as described in the Financial Outlook on 
page 21 and referred to at various other places in this document. The fixed asset fund is the net book value of tangible 
fixed assets while the pension reserve represents the current shortfall in funding for the organisational defined benefit 
pension scheme held with Lothian Pension Fund as supplied by independent actuaries.
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16  Analysis of net assets between funds

Group Restricted 
Funds  
£000

General 
Reserves

£000

Designated 
Funds  
£000

Total
£000

Fund balances at 31 March 2021 are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets - - 13,029 13,029
Investments - 12,135 5,164 17,299
Current assets 362 12,648 - 13,010
Current liabilities - falling due within one year - (5,226) - (5,226)
Provision for liabilities - (273) - (273)
Defined benefit pension scheme deficit - (15,064) - (15,064)

Net assets including pension deficit 362 4,220 18,193 22,775

Fund balances at 31 March 2020 are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets - - 12,064 12,064
Investments - 5,675 9,500 15,175
Current assets 252 7,224 - 7,476
Current liabilities - falling due within one year - (1,850) - (1,850)
Provision for liabilities - (137) - (137)
Defined benefit pension scheme deficit - (6,374) - (6,374)

Net assets including pension deficit 252 4,538 21,564 26,354

Company Restricted 
Funds  
£000

General 
Reserves

£000

Designated 
Funds  
£000

Total
£000

Fund balances at 31 March 2021 are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets - - 13,051 13,051
Investments - 12,135 5,164 17,299
Current assets 362 12,621 - 12,983
Current liabilities - falling due within one year - (4,977) - (4,977)
Provision for liabilities - (242) - (242)
Defined benefit pension scheme deficit - (15,064) - (15,064)

Net assets including pension deficit 362 4,473 18,215 23,050

Fund balances at 31 March 2020 are represented by:
Tangible fixed assets - - 12,099 12,099
Investments - 5,675 9,500 15,175
Current assets 252 7,482 - 7,734
Current liabilities - falling due within one year - (1,611) - (1,611)
Provision for liabilities - (121) - (121)
Defined benefit pension scheme deficit - (6,374) - (6,374)

Net assets including pension deficit 252 5,051 21,599 26,902

Notes to the Accounts
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17  Commitments

Future commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 2021
£000

2020 
£000

Land and buildings
Within one year 150 177
In the second to fifth years inclusive 478 511
In over five years 42 70

670 758

18  Contingent assets

Legacies

The Charity has been named as a beneficiary of a significant pecuniary legacy, comprising real estate property of which 
a significant element remained unsold as at 31 March 2021. In addition the will is subject to challenge and the valuation 
of the main asset in the estate, which is not the real estate property bequeathed to CHAS, is subject to ongoing discussion 
with HM Revenue & Customs for inheritance Tax purposes. Therefore the amount of the legacy due to the charity cannot 
be measured with sufficient accuracy and accordingly no provision for any asset or income in relation to this legacy has 
been made in these financial statements.
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19 Prior Year Statement of Financial Activities

Group Unrestricted
Funds
£000

Restricted
Funds
£000

2020
Total

£000
Income:
Donations and legacies 6,577 1,105 7,682
Trading activities 536  - 536
Income from investments 601  - 601
Income from charitable activities  - 7,003 7,003

Total income 7,714 8,108 15,822

Expenditure:
Cost of raising funds (4,493)  - (4,493)
Cost of charitable activities (8,699) (8,359) (17,058)

Total expenditure (13,192) (8,359) (21,551)

Net (expenditure)/income on operating activities (5,478) (251) (5,729)

Net losses on investments (1,371)  - (1,371)
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit pension scheme 2,321  - 2,321

Net movement in funds (4,528) (251) (4,779)

Company

Income:
Donations and legacies 6,577 1,105 7,682
Income from investments 601  - 601
Income from charitable activities  - 7,003 7,003

Total income 7,178 8,108 15,286

Expenditure:
Cost of raising funds (3,839) - (3,839)
Cost of charitable activities (8,699) (8,359) (17,058)

Total expenditure (12,538) (8,359) (20,897)

Net (expenditure)/income on operating activities (5,360) (251) (5,611)

Net losses on investments (1,371)  - (1,371)
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit pension scheme 2,321  - 2,321

Net movement in funds (4,410) (251) (4,661)

Notes to the Accounts
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CHAS Head Office
Canal Court, 42 Craiglockhart Avenue, Edinburgh, EH14 1LT
t: 0131 444 1900 e: support@chas.org.uk

Children’s Hospices Across Scotland (known as CHAS) is a Scottish charity, SC019724, regulated by the 
Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR).

www.chas.org.uk
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Social media

A stacked version of the logo 
is available exclusively for 
use as an ident on social 
media platforms. 

For the very smallest social 
profile pictures, where the 
stacked version would be 
unreadable, this single letter 
version should be used.

 

These lock-ups can be used 
to promote CHAS’ social 
platforms.

Digital media

supportCHAS

supportCHAS


